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Thursday, March 31, 2016
--- On commencing at 9:34 a.m.

MS. FRY:  Good morning.  Please be seated.

This is a hearing by the Ontario Energy Board concerning the application of Ottawa River Power Corporation for approval of rates effective May 1, 2016, Board file number EB-2014-0105.  My name is Ellen Fry.  I will be presiding today.  With me is my colleague Allison Duff.

This hearing today has two purposes.  The first purpose is for Ottawa River Power to present the partial settlement proposal it has filed.  As indicated in the Board's procedural order, the purpose of the presentation is for a senior executive of Ottawa River Power to summarize and present any salient information for our consideration in reviewing the partial settlement proposal, to talk about the planning Ottawa River Power has taken to address system needs and customer preferences, and to talk about Ottawa River Power's proposal on how the costs of distributing electricity ought to be recovered from customers through the rates they pay, taking into consideration the Board's policy.

Because this is a presentation, the first part of the hearing, rather than testimony, the Ottawa River Power executive will not be sworn for that purpose, and there will be no cross-examination in that part of the hearing.

After the presentation we and the Panel will have some questions, and intervenor and Board Staff counsel will have an opportunity to comment on the partial settlement proposal.

The second purpose of the hearing today is to hear evidence and argument concerning the issue of the interest rate on Ottawa River Power's long-term debt.  This was the sole issue that was not settled in the partial settlement proposal.

Counsel, could you please identify yourself for the record?
Appearances:

MR. VELLONE:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Panel.  My name is John Vellone, and I'm counsel for the applicant, Ottawa River Power Corporation, and for the benefit of those in the room, starting on my far right, Mr. Les Scott, whose affidavit you see in this proceeding; Ms. Jane Donnelly, with Ottawa River Power Corporation; Mr. Dennis Montgomery, also with Ottawa River Power Corporation; and my colleague, an articling student from BLG, Jessica Buchta, who is going to be helping us try to navigate some of the technology in the hearing room today.

MS. FRY:  That's always positive, thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Jay Shepherd, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MS. FRY:  Thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  I'm Michael Janigan for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

MS. FRY:  Thank you.

MS. HELT:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Maureen Helt, counsel with the Board, and with me I have Birgit Armstrong, who is case manager.

MS. FRY:  Thank you very much.

Okay.  Mr. Vellone, would you like to introduce your senior executive and turn the floor over to him?

MR. VELLONE:  I do have a question, I suppose.  I've been asked by Ottawa River Power to do the initial presentation of the settlement proposal on their behalf.  They are available to answer questions should the Board Panel have it.  I think they just prefer -- feel more comfortable if I do the presentation for them.  Is that okay?

MS. FRY:  Well, I would respond as follows.  I mean, the reason we put in the procedural order that we wanted a senior executive to make the presentation -- and recognize this is not a formal giving of evidence.  This is a presentation.  That's what it's intended to be.  That is what it would be.  The reason we put it in there is we want to hear about the operational aspects, and the senior executive is the best person to do that.  Obviously we can't force you to choose who makes the presentation, but I would say that, you know, if you're able to do it, our strong preference would indeed be to have Mr. Montgomery do it.  But, you know, as I say, it is obviously your choice.

MR. VELLONE:  Maybe what I can propose is, my presentation is maybe ten minutes.  I do get into some of the operational detail, and Mr. Montgomery is here and has indicated a willingness to answer any type of operational questions that you might have that arise from my presentation or elsewhere from the settlement proposal.

MS. FRY:  Well, as I say, that's not our preference, but if it's your choice, why don't you proceed.
Presentation of the Settlement Proposal by Mr. Vellone:


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I am pleased to present a partial settlement filed by Ottawa River Power Corporation on March 15th, 2016 which represents a partial settlement to the issues in this proceeding.  The parties to the settlement proposal are the applicant, the School Energy Coalition, and the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.


While Board Staff participated in the settlement conference, they are not a party to the settlement proposal.  Rather, Board Staff made submissions on the settlement proposal on March 22nd, 2016, and I expect they will speak to those submissions this morning.  I'll limit my comments just to note that Board Staff was generally supportive of the proposed settlement that is put before the Panel.


I would ask if you can maybe turn to page 7 of the settlement proposal that has been filed.  That's showing on the screen in front of you.  And you can see in respect of the Board's approved issues list, the parties were able to reach complete settlement on 11 of the issues and partial settlement on one remaining issue.  For each of the settled and partially settled issues the parties have provided detailed rationale as well as pinpoint references to the evidence on the record in this proceeding, which the parties believe are sufficient to support a full or partial settlement as the issue is applicable.

I intend to focus the balance of my comments today on the matters that the Board expressly called out in your procedural order.  Specifically, my presentation is intended to summarize how the proposed settlement directly aligns with the Board's renewed regulatory framework for electricity distributors and the OEB's policies in general.

In addition, I intend to highlight the planning that Ottawa River Power Corporation has undertaken to address system needs and customer preferences.

To start, let's take a look at the settlement on issue 1.1; that is, capital.  And this is at page 12 of the settlement proposal.  The parties have agreed -- the parties were able to reach complete settlement on this issue.  And the parties have agreed that the level of planned capital expenditures in 2016 of approximately $1.245 million is appropriate.

In arriving at this settlement the parties considered a number of key factors directly aligned with the Board's renewed regulatory framework.  Specifically -- and if you flip forward two pages to page 14 of the settlement proposal -- the parties considered the needs and plans specified in the detailed distribution system plan filed by Ottawa River Power Corporation at Exhibit 2, tab 5, schedule 2.  This settlement as proposed fully funds Ottawa River Power Corporation's planned capital expenditures in the test year.

The parties also considered the evidence on customer engagement, as well as customer preferences, which are set out in Exhibit 1, tab 3, schedule 1.  Those included town hall meetings, meetings with community groups and municipal councils, home workshops, and visits at local schools.  They also include an additional town hall at which Board Staff was present and for which a presentation is available on the evidentiary record, as well as Board Staff's report arising from that town hall meeting.

One of the key customer preferences that the applicant learned about during these meetings was the desire to have more and better information and communications available during outages.  In direct response, if the Board approves this settlement, Ottawa River Power Corporation will be able to move forward with its plan to implement an outage management system in 2016 which will enable proactive notification of localized customer outages, as well as to assist in customer communication during both planned and unplanned outages.

The parties also considered both the past and prospective productivity performance of the applicant in arriving at the settlement.

From the perspective of past performance, the parties did make note of the applicant's 2014 scorecard performance, both in terms of total cost per customer.  Their 2014 performance was 6.7 percent below their 2013 cost numbers, as well as in terms of total cost per kilometre of line, their 2014 results were 6.1 percent below 2013 numbers.

And when considering planned and future productivity performance, I do think it is important to relate this settlement on the issue of capital with the agreed-to reduction in OM&A spending of $230,000, which I'll speak to in a moment.  I don't think those two are really severable when you're looking at future productivity performance.

Finally, the parties also considered comparability with historic and future expenditures. The settlement agreement reflects the capital expenditure in 2016 of $1.245 million.  Ottawa River Power Corporation spent approximately 1.37 million in capital expenditures in 2013, 1.198 million in 2014, and intends to spend 1.3 million in 2017, and roughly consistent amounts in each of the subsequent years.

There was one anomalous year to draw to your attention.  That was in 2015, the preliminary results -- the best information that the available at the time of settlement --was that Ottawa River Power Corporation spent $776,000 on capital expenditures.  Those were preliminary results.  The final numbers are closer to 1.1 million, much more in line with what the settled capital expenditures are.

However, because those were the best results we had at the time of settlement, this settlement reflects an inclusion of those actual capital additions we knew at the time of $776,000 in rate base, as well as the depreciation on those actual numbers.  That was an adjustment the applicant agreed to make as part of settlement, and we're standing by that in this presentation.

Ottawa River Power Corporation also agreed to revise its continuity statements to reflect updated data for accumulated appreciation of standard meters as of December 31, 2015.

All of the parties -- the applicant, Schools and VECC -- supported the complete settlement of this issue on this basis.

I would like to turn to issue 1.2, OM&A, which can be found at page 16 of the settlement proposal.  The parties reached complete settlement on this issue as well.  Specifically, the applicant has agreed to reduce its proposed OM&A expenses in the test year by $230,000, to be approximately $3.065 million.

Is this a deep cut?  Yes, it is.  However, the executive of Ottawa River Power Corporation determined that they were able to make this budget work, and their best estimate as to how they're going to do that is shown in table 4 of the proposed settlement.

To make it work, Ottawa River Power Corporation will be highly incented to dig deep and find additional productivity and opportunities.  This may include not filling existing vacancies which were otherwise thought to be filled, and otherwise simply doing more with less.

We do believe this settlement is directly reflective of customer preferences of having lower rates, as those preferences were communicated to us during both the town hall meeting which Board Staff attended, including a letter from a large industrial customer asking for lower rates, as well as was communicated to us through this process through the representatives of the various intervenor groups, which are representatives of customers in this formal proceeding.

Based on this, the party accepted the evidence of the applicant that the level of planned OM&A expenditures, and the rationale for the planning and pacing as adjusted is appropriate.

The customer engagement, benchmarking performance, and past and planned productivity performance, all of which I previously spoke about, were considered in reaching this settlement as well.  All of the parties supported the complete settlement of this issue on that basis.

I would like to turn now from the settled issues to the unsettled issue, and that is the key area of disagreement, which there is one, the long-term debt component --


MS. FRY:  Let me just interrupt you.  We will be hearing evidence in cross-examination and argument on that.  So I really -- unless you feel there is a burning need to make a point about it now, I would suggest that whatever it is you're planning to say could probably be amply covered later on in that part of the hearing.

MR. VELLONE:  Okay.  The intent of this presentation was simply to speak to how the parties agreed in the settlement proposal to address the Board's determination on whatever the unsettled issue is –

MS. FRY:  So the relationship between the two?

MR. VELLONE:  Correct.  The intent was to explain how the settlement proposal will deal with whatever your decision is on the unsettled issue --


MS. FRY:  All right, so please go ahead with that.

MR. VELLONE:  -- not to debate the merits of the unsettled issue.  Please turn up page 9 of the settlement proposal?

As we know, the parties have been unable to agree on the applicant's proposal to use a 7.25 percent interest rate as a cost of affiliate debt for rate-setting purposes.  As described in their settlement proposal, the applicant is producing a witness.

Mr. Les Scott is here with us today to speak to his testimony, and his contained in an affidavit which was filed in advance of today's hearing.

To the extent that the resolution of this area of disagreement requires further adjustment after the Board's decision, those adjustments are specifically called out in the text of the settlement proposal.

The parties are otherwise in agreement on all of the remainder of the cost of capital issue; that is capital structure of rate of return on equity as well as the short-term debt cost have been appropriately determined.

MS. FRY:  Let me be crystal clear, because obviously it’s an important point.  So I think what you're saying is regardless of what decision the Board makes on the contentious issue, the parties are all content for the partial settlement agreement to stand, subject to any updating of the figures that is necessitated by the decision on the contentious issue.  Is that right?

MR. VELLONE:  That is exactly.

MS. FRY:  Counsel everywhere is nodding?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, Madam Chair.

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, Madam Chair.

MS. FRY:  Thank you very much.

MR. VELLONE:  I'll conclude by saying while I'm here to assist in representing the applicant, they are available with me today and have indicated they are willing to answer specific questions if you have any, perhaps about the operational impacts of the settlement proposal.

I'll conclude my remarks simply by saying that all the parties to the settlement have agreed the settlement proposal contains sufficient rationale and detailed supporting evidence to support the proposed settlement.

In our submission, the Board should adopt the settlement as in the public interest.

MS. DUFF:  Good morning.  I have a few questions.  First let’s address the rate base, the capital additions in 2015 that you spoke about this morning.

If you can turn to page 12 of the settlement agreement, just to make sure I understand what -- finally the transcript is showing up on my screen.  Thank you very much.

So here on page 12, halfway down the page of the complete settlement, you agreed to – basically, you're saying the 2016 would equal 2015; you agree to that.  But now we’re finding that the actual 2015 was not 780,932, is that what you're saying?

 MR. VELLONE:  Not exactly.  What I might suggest you do is flip forward to page 15 of the settlement proposal which is --


 MS. DUFF:  That's exactly it.

 MR. VELLONE:  -- table 3.  If you take a look at that table and you go, I guess three rows down, you'll see 2016 capital additions.  And in the second to last column, you'll see the settlement amount of $1.245,950 million.  That is the settled upon 2016 capital additions.  It is the same as what the applicant was asking for in the interrogatory process.

 It's their forecast.  The settlement was on the forecast.  It was not a settlement on we're going to do whatever we did in 2015, which is a different number.

MS. DUFF:  Okay, so maybe this is more appropriate for Mr. Montgomery.  I just want to ascertain that the second row of the table 3, the 2016 gross opening balance, that is correct?  Is that a correct number, given that there has been the change to the actual 2015 capital adds.

MR. VELLONE:  It is no longer a correct number.  It was the best number we knew at the time the settlement was prepared and filed, and we're willing to stand by it.

 MS. FRY:  It looks like the CFO – it looks like she has something to add.

MS. DONNELLY:  Thank you.  Yes, you're correct.  That number is no longer the correct number.  Our capital additions when we were in settlement -- we usually have a year-end complete by the time the end of February happens, but we met and had a settlement early February, so no year-end work had been done up to that point, and we made -- I believe we made it clear in settlement that those were preliminary numbers only.


MS. DUFF:  Oh, I appreciate the sequence of events --


MS. DONNELLY:  Okay.


MS. DUFF:  -- and the timing of how that happened.  That's not an issue.  I'm just saying, like, you're here now.  You're not coming back for five more years --


MS. DONNELLY:  Yeah.  That's --


MS. DUFF:  -- you're under price cap IR, and your rate base is understated by 300 --


MS. DONNELLY:  That's correct.


MS. DUFF:  -- well, more than that, and you're prepared to accept that as a company.


MR. VELLONE:  It's challenging, because we reached -- the basis of the settlement that we reached with the intervenors was on a package basis.  If we try to reopen something like this we have no idea what else unwinds from their point of view.


MS. FRY:  Can I just supplement your question?  Mr. Montgomery, I would love to hear from you on this, and counsel is doing an excellent job, but, you know, this is really the -- where the operational rubber hits the road.


MR. MONTGOMERY:  Thanks for allowing me to speak here.


Yes, so with this capital expense there is a long-term impact on our operation.  Unfortunately at the time when we were doing this settlement we didn't know the final numbers, and as the year end rolls through in completing this process we're able to find those invoices and update our final projects.


So that's where we are today.  We're not stating the same numbers that we had in December and January in our other settlement agreements.


MS. DUFF:  Well, can I --


MR. MONTGOMERY:  Is that sort of the question?


MS. DUFF:  Yes, I guess I can ask this also of Mr. Janigan and Mr. Shepherd.  I mean, that is your understanding that you're aware that the two-15 were not actuals in the opening rate bases understated as per table 15, that that was part of the settlement proposal?


MR. SHEPHERD:  The $1.1 million, the first time I heard it was two minutes ago.  And I'm not going to talk about what was discussed in ADR.


MS. DUFF:  Fair enough.  Mr. Janigan?


MR. JANIGAN:  My recollection is similar to Mr. Shepherd's, and --


MS. DUFF:  But that number today was the first time you had heard it?


MR. JANIGAN:  I believe so, yes, Madam Chair.


MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Okay.  I'm going to leave that for now.


I have -- so I have another question for the CFO.  So your statements that you're using for any external reporting versus your regulatory books, there will be a discrepancy.  What other financial statements are you producing in addition to the ones that underlie your rates?


MS. DONNELLY:  Well, those -- the 2015, as we said, were preliminary.  2015 financial statements will reflect actuals.


MS. DUFF:  Yes.


MS. DONNELLY:  Are you suggesting that we --


MS. DUFF:  No.


MS. DONNELLY:  Okay -- that we need two sets of books?


MS. DUFF:  No, no, but just that for the purposes of rate-setting, the -- okay.


MS. DONNELLY:  I think we will just always be comparing in future rates what was approved in -- as our rate base in 2016.  And you're correct in the fact that our rate base is underfunded by --


MS. DUFF:  You said that well.  Thank you.


I had another question.  It's really regarding the load forecast and the LRAM VA adjustments.  If we can turn to page 23.  I'll be perfectly honest.  Part B, the second and third bullet points, I really don't understand what they're saying, so if you could explain what a decrease in the amount used for the CDM threshold in two-14, and the same as a removal of an amount used for the CDM threshold in two-16, what's the nature of those adjustments?  I'm just trying to understand.


MR. VELLONE:  So I'm going to do my lawyer best, because I'm not an expert in these models, and unfortunately I don't think we have our experts in these models here in the room with us today.


My understanding is that this verbal description is intended to simply describe changes that are made to the various cells of that model, and there are rationale for each provided in here, and that the changes were acceptable to all of the parties, although I -- to be honest, I can't get into the particular -- I rely on my CDM expert, and frankly, the intervenors rely on theirs when arriving at this one --


MS. DUFF:  Well, yeah, I mean, the other part of this -- the bullet point says "which does not affect the test year load forecast", so the words are the words, in terms of the impact on two-16, so I'll take that at...


MR. VELLONE:  I apologize I can't give more clarity.


MS. DUFF:  But I do have one that does need to be answered --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder --


MS. DUFF:  Oh --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, I wonder if I can add something?


MS. DUFF:  Oh, please.


MR. SHEPHERD:  These amounts, I believe -- and I'm not the expert either, but I believe these amounts relate to the base line for future calculations of LRAM VA.


MS. DUFF:  Mm-hmm.


MR. SHEPHERD:  They don't relate to the load forecast --


MS. DUFF:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- for this year --


MS. DUFF:  So in establishing the --


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- that's the distinction.


MS. DUFF:  So establishing the reference point.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly, exactly.


MS. DUFF:  So in establishing the reference point for going forward for the deferral account there have been adjustments made that go into that calculation in which it's based.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.


MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  Then on page 25, the second line, it appears that a full year of the two-16 programs has been added in for the test year, and I'm asking why a full-year number was used for two-16.  The assumption being that CDM programs are delivered 12 months through the year, usually the year before, you know, there is a bit of a pattern that goes into the way the numbers line in, and that in fact that a full year of two-16 was used in the numbers?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I think I may be able to help.


MS. DUFF:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  With the proviso that everything I know about LRAM VA I learned from Bill Harper.


MS. DUFF:  Yeah.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But I believe that the problem here is that the ISO numbers that the Board uses to do the comparison later assume full-year application.  Everybody knows it's wrong, but that's what they do.  And so in order for the base line to fairly compare apples to apples, the base line also has to include full-year numbers.  It's an anomaly.  Am I right here?


MS. HELT:  That's correct.


MS. DUFF:  Okay.  Mr. Janigan.


MR. JANIGAN:  Madam Chair, if I can add further confusion to this.  My understanding is that this -- the CDM programs that we're talking about are primarily residential in nature, and that is why the 12-month figure applies.


MS. DUFF:  Okay.  That's more information than I had five minutes ago, so I will take that into consideration.


Just a general question, actually, to the Ottawa River witnesses.  Just in terms of -- you mention that you're here now and the cost of services are once every five years.  In the interim period you have price-cap IR increases, and you're also responsible for reporting, like, scorecard results to the Board.


With this settlement proposal as put forward are you confident that as you're addressing your scorecard metrics that you have sufficient resources, money, to have continuous improvements in how those are reported?  It's more of a general question.  I'm just trying to -- you know, in many ways we look at the rate-making process as quite the number-crunching, but putting your business hat on, you're gone now for five years with a set, you know, mechanistic increase to your rates, and just how do you manage that and how are you, you know, looking at the next five years in the opportunities and challenges that you have?


MR. MONTGOMERY:  So if I can -- I took some notes here while we were talking, and some of the core parts are local employment, low-cost hydro, so and so forth, that's customer preference, and then we have a business case that we -- and regulatory issues we have to deal with.


So one example that comes out here is on this monthly billing, so in 2015 we had to deal with monthly billing and stand price as an example.  How did we -- how are we in the future going to deal with that?  We're going to start with some electronic billing.  And where did we learn this?  We learned this through our partnerships.


So with Hydro Ottawa, they deliver a program.  We belong to the CHEC group, an association of small utilities.  We use them for our safety, our conservation demand, and to keep us in tune with regulatory issues.

We belong to the USF, the Utility Standards Forum.  So with the ESA regulation that’s coming out, as public safety is being mandated and the scorecard issues, we'll rely on a check to -- and that's what's going on right now.  They have gone to RFP for us and got us a vendor to complete the survey, so on and so forth, and then with our local utilities -- so Hydro Ottawa and even Hydro One -- working out mutual aid and load transfers with them.

So by continuing to work with these partnerships, I think that will be our success at maintaining low cost hydro for our ratepayers.

MS. DUFF:  I'm not familiar with that name, CHEC.  Is that an acronym for something?

MR. MONTGOMERY:  Yes, so Cornerstone Hydro-Electric is fifteen utilities down in here, Wasaga and InPower -- it's a group down here that Ken Robertson, Gord Eamer, Taylor -- those are some names that you may hear in the future.  But they help us out with dealing with those issues.

So we want to focus on our core and our strengths, and that's been local and local knowledge.  We are using that partnership, and they will develop a safety management system for us so we don't have to hire a safety management specialist and, two years from now, try to figure out what to do with this the specialist.

They will develop the systems for us and we will implement them, similar to USF where we have the standard – that’s the Utility Standards Forum.  So we’ve developed the electrical design standards for our installations, but now we have to deal with aging assets.

So do I go and hire an asset manager and, two years later, he has developed a system -- he or she has developed a system?  No, we'll use the CHEC group and the forum to find out who has the tools, who is using similar IT systems to us, and then we'll leverage what they're doing.


MS. DUFF:  That's very helpful.  Thank you very much.

MS. FRY:  Mr. Montgomery, I have a few questions for you also.  Let me start with a contextual question.  Can you elucidate for us the mystery of what a difference is between Mississippi Mills and Almonte?

MR. MONTGOMERY:  So I'm new to that --


MS. FRY:  I mean, it’s -- I'm sure you do know.

MR. MONTGOMERY:  Maybe, counsellor?  Scott --


MS. FRY:  Certainly, whoever knows the answer.

MR. MONTGOMERY:  -- because he was born and raised around that area.

MR. SCOTT:  Yes, I was born and raised in Almonte.  Almonte is a small village about 25 kilometres southwest of Ottawa.

When amalgamation took place in the Province of Ontario, there were a number of small municipalities that again, for economic reasons, for better service, better provision to the ratepayers -- decided to join.

So you took Almonte, you took parts of Lombardy, you took parts of Rideau and combined that, and they called the new township Mississippi Mills.

The same thing happened when you look at Beachburg; a small village surrounded by other townships – there was Westmeath Township a few others.  They combined and they are now known as Whitewater region.

MS. FRY:  Thank you.  So Almonte is a part of Mississippi Mills?

MR. SCOTT:  Yes, it is.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  So, Mr. Montgomery, we heard your counsel talk about how your company would be able to cope with the cuts to its proposed O&M budget.  Can you talk to me a bit about how that's going to work on the ground?

MR. MONTGOMERY:  So one of the parts here is developing our capital program.  So with the resources and people that we have, we will maintain the system and do the capital ups and downs.

What we're doing is focusing on renewing our capital infrastructure.  So on the OM&A, we'll focus on capitalizing and rebuilding the infrastructure, and in that it should cut down on our operation and maintenance expenses.

So we started -- I don't want to get into too many details, but part of our capital program is to start to define what our asset is.  So that’s where we are in 2015, is to develop a system, a common system.  So we’ve met with Lakeland Utility and Essex Power, so on and so forth, and we have the base tools.

And then we've educated and trained our employees how to do the asset identification.  So here is a hydro pole; how old is it?  There is no stamp.  What are some of the tests to do.  So Hydro One came in and showed us how to do some detailed testing of poles, so on and so forth.


So that's the stage we're at today.  And John here mentioned about average management, and it's similar thing. So part of the capital program is to start to put these systems in place.


So we believe improving our capital will help us deal with that lower -- or the reduction of OM&A.

MS. FRY:  Thank you.  You also answered my next question, which was going to be that your partial settlement proposal talks about the future action you're planning to take concerning the life of your assets, and I was going to ask you about that.  But I think you've answered that.

Okay, so just one more question.  So if you turn up page 35 in the settlement proposal -- so under 5.1, it's talking about a new service charge called the meter dispute charge.  Mr. Montgomery, can you just tell me in your own words what it covers?  Or perhaps if CFO can do it better, that's good for me.

MS. DONNELLY:  Thank you.  Since the inception of smart meters, there's a lot of non-confidence in what the meter is doing.  We had, we saw it before but it heightened after smart meters.


So we have a lot of people coming into the office asking for verification, like that can't be right, and there's a lot more time spent with customers where we're actually sending someone back out to the meter showing them -- often removing the meter and putting another meter on, only to find out that the meter is correct.

So that's not a charge we believe should be shared by all customers, but by the customers that when it's explained what's happening -- and I know it's part of our business, and we do our best to explain and help.  But when there is still that dispute and they're pushing you no matter what to come back and replace the meter, if we go out and find the meter is correct, then we would like to charge a fee for that.

MS. FRY:  Who does the meter reading?  Is it your company or is it the customer?

MR. MONTGOMERY:  So we use the MDMR, so on and so forth, to do the meter reading ourselves.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  So here I think maybe there is a wording issue here.


If I'm looking at this page, it says:

"The new charge is intended to cover the cost of customers questioning faulty meters, which is most often explained by meter reading rather than faulty meters."

So I wasn't understanding that.  Perhaps it’s just that I'm interpreting the sentence wrong.  I was thinking that what it looked like it was saying was the problem wasn't the faulty meter, it was that somebody read it wrong.  But that's not the intention?

MS. DONNELLY:  No, that's not the intention at all, because all readers now, as we know, are run electronically.

MS. FRY:  You're saying reading the meter explains the problem?  Is that it?

MS. DONNELLY:  Yes.

MS. FRY:  Okay, thank you.  So those are all my questions.

Mr. Shepherd, do you have any comments on the partial settlement proposal – sorry, not questions, but comments?
Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have, I guess, two comments -- I have three comments.


First of all I agree with Mr. Vellone and Mr. Montgomery that this is really a sort of a balance.  So there are some things that are higher, some things are lower.  In discussing it, we tried to emphasize the things that were important, like capital spending and reinforcing the system, and other things important for ratepayers like tight control of operating costs.  And I think the utility has responded to those things quite positively and proactively.


I will point out that Mr. Vellone talked about customer engagement, and he talked about all the formal customer engagement, but I would like to emphasize, and I think the utility would probably agree, that in a small utility like this it's not really about going out and formally talking to your customers.  Your customers are your neighbours.  You know what they want from you, and in fact, that's part of the nature of a small utility, is that you do know what your neighbours want and what is good for them.


And I think Mr. Montgomery was alluding to that when talking about local management and their strengths, and I think that's what their strength is.  They're engaging with their customers every single day.


And then I guess my last comment is the issue was raised of the 2015 capital expenditures and the closing balance for rate base, and I want to be clear that nobody is suggesting that the regulatory books would reflect $776,000 of capital expenditures in 2015; the regulatory books will reflect the actual capital expenditures.


The rates would be set under this proposal on the assumption of 776, much as normally happens in a lot of cases where you don't have the last year's information at the time that you're -- that the Board is deciding or that the settlement is made.


There is a PowerStream decision before the Board today which has -- which will have 2015 end-of-year rate base in it.  That's not their actual rate base.  That's what was thought of at the time, at the time of the hearing.  And that always happens, so this is not new.  The only thing that's new here is that before you've made the decision you have the actual number.


And so that's all the comments I have.  Thank you.

     MS. FRY:  Mr. Janigan?

Submissions by Mr. Janigan:

     MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I have not much more to add, but to reinforce Mr. Shepherd's comments that we believe that the settlement fairly reflects the desire on the part of all parties to reach a settlement in line with the objectives of the act, and the objectives of the act, as Mr. Shepherd alluded to, seem to suggest a balance between the interests of fashioning just and reasonable rates for the ratepayer and as well to ensure a system that is maintained and delivers security of supply.  And I think that this agreement delivers on those objectives, and we support it.

     MS. FRY:  Thanks.  So Ms. Helt, I do recognize that Staff has filed a written submission on the settlement proposal, but do you have anything to add at this point?

Submissions by Ms. Helt:

     MS. HELT:  Madam Chair, perhaps I could just add, you do have our submission.  If there are any questions with respect to that submission, we would be happy to answer them, but otherwise we do support the settlement proposal as noted in our submission.


We did provide some comments with respect to the distribution system plan, the OM&A, and bill impacts, but in all of those three areas our concluding submission was that we would support the settlement proposal and we felt that the proposal did reflect an appropriate balance between the utility's interests and ratepayers' interests.

     MS. FRY:  Thank you.  Okay.  So that completes -- Mr. Shepherd, you look like you have a comment.  Okay.  So that completes the first phase of the hearing.  So I think we can now proceed to start the witness panel.


Mr. Vellone, can you put them up and introduce them and we'll swear them.

     MR. VELLONE:  Certainly.  Mr. Scott and Jane, would you please go up to the witness panel to be affirmed by the Board.  Thank you.

OTTAWA RIVER POWER CORP. - PANEL 1


Les Scott, Affirmed


Jane Donnelly, Affirmed

     MS. DUFF:  That's fine, thank you.

     MS. FRY:  So Mr. Vellone, if you have any additional information just to introduce your witnesses, you may do it.  If not, proceed with your direct examination.

     MR. VELLONE:  I have very brief opening remarks, basically to cover off Mr. Scott's CV and qualifications.


MS. FRY:  Okay.

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Vellone:


MR. VELLONE:  Perhaps if I could ask just to start each of the witnesses to please state and spell their names for the benefit of the written transcript.

     MR. SCOTT:  Les Scott, L-e-s, Scott, S-c-o-t-t.

     MS. DONNELLY:  Jane Donnelly, J-a-n-e D-o-n-n-e-l-l-y.

     MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much.  I'll start with you, Mr. Scott.  I would like you to take a look at a document titled "Affidavit of Les Scott".  It's dated March 23rd, 2016.  I have prepared at the request of counsel for VECC an updated version of this which has page numbers all the way through the affidavit, so it makes it easier for cross-referencing purpose.  I might ask if that be distributed now and marked as an exhibit.

     MS. FRY:  Yes.  Ms. Helt, we need an exhibit number, I believe.
     MS. HELT:  Yes, K1.

     MS. FRY:  Thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. K1:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "AFFIDAVIT OF LES SCOTT", DATED 23 MARCH 2016.

     MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Scott, do you have a copy of this document?

     MR. SCOTT:  I do.

     MR. VELLONE:  And I understand it's your affidavit which you have sworn to be true.  I'll ask you now, do you adopt it as your evidence in this proceeding?

     MR. SCOTT:  I do.

     MR. VELLONE:  And you've included a copy of your CV as an appendix as tab A of your affidavit, correct?

     MR. SCOTT:  That's correct.

     MR. VELLONE:  And I understand you're currently a councillor on the City of Pembroke council, as well as chair of the Board of Ottawa River Power Corporation; is that correct?
     MR. SCOTT:  That's correct as well.

     MR. VELLONE:  And you were the mayor of the City of Pembroke from 1994 to 2000?

     MR. SCOTT:  I was.

     MR. VELLONE:  And my understanding, it was during your term as mayor that the City passed a transfer bylaw in respect of Ottawa River Power Corporation; correct?

     MR. SCOTT:  That's correct.
     MR. VELLONE:  And you were the signatory to that transfer bylaw, which is attached as tab C to your affidavit, correct?

     MR. SCOTT:  Correct.

     MR. VELLONE:  Could you please just briefly explain your testimony to the Panel today?

     MR. SCOTT:  Okay.  Well, we've had a challenge in trying to find the original promissory notes, and I can tell you that the chief administrative officer of the four municipalities, the lawyers, staff, the accounting firms, have all gone through files, and in particular, speaking about the City of Pembroke, the promissory notes, if we had those promissory notes, should have been locked up in a secure area in what we call our walk-in vault.  And I know that staff have gone through that in great detail, and they've also gone to the storage area and gone back through files, boxes of files, with staff, taking hours, even days, to try and find promissory notes.


Unfortunately, how they were lost or why we can't find them, I don't have the answer to that.  I can assure you the effort has been duly attempted to find those documents.


I think it might be fair to say that we've always assumed that the transfer bylaw maybe contained the promissory note, and I think it's fair to say that most of us still assume that.


I think the fact that the 7.25 percent that's been paid has been paid for over 14 years on a regular basis, honestly, forthwith, and maybe just if I can reflect and say based on trust, a handshake, and agreements between four municipalities that wanted to form the Ottawa River Power Corporation.  I think that speaks rather well for the agreement and the way that it's been committed and followed through on.


I understand that others, as I said, share this as well.  I do have to apologize.  I don't feel that I'm any kind of an expert on corporate law.  I can tell you, though, as a result of the creation of the Section 142 and the forming of the corporation that was very new to us at the time.  And previous to that I did sit on the Pembroke Hydro Commission board for nine years.


One of the other issues that may have surfaced is the fact that the promissory notes, the original ones that we cannot find, and the fact that a number of staff have changed hands since 1999, 2000 and 2001 and, in particular, three of the mayors that ran for re-election, for some reason none of us, myself included, were re-elected.  So there is a bit of a gap with respect to politicians being in place.


The City of Pembroke had changed three chief administrative officers within a short period of time, as well as the treasurer of the municipality.  And I know that pattern existed in a couple of the other municipalities as well, which may be some kind of an explanation as to where was the follow-up, what happened to the promissory notes, and the fact that the market opening was delayed almost two years from the original intent in November of 2000.


So what have we done that we can maybe help to understand the circumstances?  I was there at the time the notes were issued, and I am pleased to be here today to try and speak to some of those matters.  Secondly, I've compiled, for the benefit of the Ontario Energy Board, the best evidence that we do have available in respect to the terms of each of those four promissory notes.  Those are the transfer bylaws, the shareholders' agreement, and the amending agreement, all of which are directly attached to my affidavit.  Please feel free to compare what I'm saying against some of the documentation.


In addition to that, we did -- the Ottawa River Power Corporation asked its lawyers to issue replacement notes on the same terms and conditions as the original promissory notes.  Those, together with the standard affidavits of loss, indemnities which accompanied the issue of such replacement notes, are attached to my affidavit.


In my view, the terms of the replacement notes are consistent with the promissory notes they are replacing.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Mr. Scott.  Are there any corrections you would like to make to the evidence?


MR. SCOTT:  Yes.  It has come to my attention that the affidavit of loss from Whitewater Region, attached as tab N to my affidavit, is missing a signature.


I'm not sure how this occurred.  However, Ottawa River Power raised to the attention of the Whitewater Region, and my counsel has a copy of the properly signed affidavit for inclusion on the evidentiary record, and I would ask that this be referred to instead.


MR. VELLONE:  We brought copies of what is a properly signed affidavit of loss from Whitewater Region.  We can distribute that now and have it marked as an exhibit.


MS. HELT:  Yes, we will mark it as Exhibit K2.2, to be the affidavit of loss to replace the affidavit of loss at tab N of Mr. Scott's affidavit.

EXHIBIT NO. K2:  AFFIDAVIT OF LOSS TO REPLACE THE AFFIDAVIT OF LOSS AT TAB N OF MR. SCOTT'S AFFIDAVIT


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  Mr. Scott, finally, as chair of Ottawa River Power Corporation, what was your involvement in the application as a whole?


MR. SCOTT:  My involvement in the application was indirect.  The management of the corporation has and had direct responsibility for the application, and they from time to time did report on matters to the board of directors.


MR. VELLONE:  Miss Scott, as management of -- sorry.


MS. DONNELLY:  It’s Ms. Donnelly.  We're not married.


MR. VELLONE:  My apologies.  Ms. Donnelly, as representative of the management of Ottawa River Power Corporation, did you have direct involvement in the application?


MS. DONNELLY:  Yes, I did.


MR. VELLONE:  Do you adopt it as your evidence in this proceeding?


MS. DONNELLY:  I do.


MR. VELLONE:  And you're available to take questions on the application?


MS. DONNELLY:  I am.


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  Those are my remarks.


MS. FRY:  Okay.  Mr. Shepherd?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  For the assistance of the Board, I have prepared a compendium which is all documents that are in the record.  And I’ve tried to put it together so that you don't have to look at 200-odd pages, but only forty.


MS. HELT:  We will provide a copy of that to the Panel, and it will be marked as Exhibit K3.

EXHIBIT NO. K3:  PANEL 1 CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR SCHOOL ENERGY COALITION

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me start with this affidavit.  Mr. Scott, there is an affidavit filed in this proceeding dated the 23rd, that is signed by a commissioner as having been sworn before them.  Are you telling us that that never actually happened, that that commissioner signed that affidavit but never had the affidavit sworn before them on the 23rd?


MR. SCOTT:  I believe the evidence that is there before you is accurate.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What?  That on the 23rd, a commissioner signed an affidavit saying it was sworn before them, but it wasn't actually?


It's not signed by the person making the affidavit.  I don't understand how a commissioner can sign something and the person is not there signing the document.  How can you say you've taken an affidavit?


MR. VELLONE:  I will concede my friend's point is a valid one.  Mr. Scott is not the commissioner on this document.  I don't even know if he was in Whitewater Region when this was signed.  I don't think he has evidence to add about how this occurred.


I think it’s a legitimate question to ask how did this occur.  I'm just not sure it's being asked to the right person.


MS. FRY:  Mr. Shepherd, are you talking about Mr. Scott's affidavit or the affidavit of --


MR. SHEPHERD:  No, the affidavit of Christine Fitzimmons of Whitewater, the one that we just got finally the signed copy, which has a different date.


MS. FRY:  I don't have the original one in front of me.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The original is tab A.


MR. VELLONE:  It’s showing on the screen.  So you can see in the bottom right corner of the original that there is no signature there.


MS. FRY:  Okay.


MR. VELLONE:  I have no idea why it happened.  Frankly, the name written below the signatory block is Hope Dillabough, which is the name of the commissioner, not the name of the affiant.

So it might have just been that the signatory noticed the error, asked that it be corrected, and that never got done.


Frankly, I can't tell you why it happened.


MS. FRY:  Just to cut through this, Mr. Scott, just to be clear, if we look at the factual things in this affidavit, I assume you agree -- you have personal knowledge that Whitewater holds this promissory note.  You believe it's in the form described in schedule D to the transfer bylaw?


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, Madam Chair, Mr. Scott didn't sign this, so --


MS. FRY:  No, no, I'm asking if he has personal knowledge of the things in it --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MS. FRY:  -- the facts in it.  I don't know if you're aware -- can you go through point by point, and tell us to what extent you were aware of the facts that are contained in this affidavit purporting to be true by the person swearing it?


MR. SCOTT:  I was aware that there was a signature missing, and I was aware that there was an effort being made to have that corrected so that it would stand corrected before the Panel today.


MS. FRY:  So going through the points in the affidavit, point 2, have you got that?  Can you just read that?  Do you have any personal knowledge as to whether that information, or that apparent information is true?


MR. SCOTT:  I believe it to be true.


MS. FRY:  Okay.  Point 3?


MR. SCOTT:  I believe point 3 to be true and accurate.


MS. FRY:  Point 4, I guess to the best of your knowledge, as you may not have personal knowledge of that.


MR. SCOTT:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. FRY:  Point 5?


MR. SCOTT:  That would be correct as well.


MS. FRY:  Go ahead, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'll come back to that.  So I wonder if you could start at the first page of our compendium, can you confirm, Ms. Donnelly -- or Ms. Scott, if you prefer to be called that -- this is your current list of debt instruments that you are claiming for regulatory purposes?

MS. DONNELLY:  I confirm.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And so it shows four promissory notes, each with a fixed rate of 7.25 percent, and with a commencement date of May 1st, 2002 and a 20-year term; is that right?

MS. DONNELLY:  I confirm that, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And your claim is that these are fixed-rate notes; is that right?

MS. DONNELLY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so in fact your application, I believe -- I don't have this in the material, but I believe your application actually says that these notes have a fixed rate of 7.25 percent and a fixed term of 20 years; is that right?

MS. DONNELLY:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, you say that in interrogatory 5, VECC 36 -- you don't need to turn it up.  I think you'll agree with this -- that the terms -- that is, the 7.25 percent and the fixed term of 20 years -- were finalized at market open, right?

MS. DONNELLY:  To the best of my knowledge, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And am I right, if you look at page 3 of our materials, am I right that the -- this is from your current revenue requirement work form, right?  Page 4, sorry, page 4 of our materials.  That's your current revenue requirement work form?

MS. DONNELLY:  I believe so.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so it shows a cost for long-term debt based as 7.25 percent on $6.6 million.  Now, you only have $5.5 million of notes?

MS. DONNELLY:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But because the way the Board's system works you actually get a debt rate on $6.6 million, right?  At 7.2 --


MS. DONNELLY:  I believe so.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that cost is $479,173 per year, right?

MS. DONNELLY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And am I right that if you -- if that were limited to the -- sorry, am I right that that has an impact on your rate increase of 12.05 percent?  That is, you have a set 12.05 percent rate increase that you're currently proposing with that debt rate; is that right?  Will you accept that subject to check?

MS. DONNELLY:  Pardon me?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Will you accept that subject to check?  You have --


MS. DONNELLY:  Yes, I'd like to -- I'll check it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You have a deficiency of 486,753 --


MS. DONNELLY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- and revenue of current rates of four-oh-three-nine-eight-twenty-eight (sic).

MS. DONNELLY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right?  And am I right that -- or will you accept this subject to check, that if you were limited to the 4.54 percent current long-term debt rate that the Board allows that your long-term debt interest would be 300,061?

MS. DONNELLY:  Subject to check, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And therefore instead of a 12.05 percent rate increase you would have a 7.62 percent rate increase.   Would you accept that subject --


MS. DONNELLY:  Subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And similarly if you had -- if you were limited to market rates for this debt, say 4 percent, that your interest would be 264,371.  Will you accept that subject to check?

MS. DONNELLY:  Subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that would be a 6.73 percent rate increase; is that right?

MS. DONNELLY:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So is it fair to say, just cutting through all this, that for the next five years we're talking about whether your customers pay an extra roughly million dollars in interest?

MS. DONNELLY:  Subject to check, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's the issue today, right?  And for a small utility like yours a million dollars is a lot of money, isn't it?

MS. DONNELLY:  Yes, it is.

MS. DUFF:  Mr. -- can I just ask one question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MS. DUFF:  I'm so sorry to interrupt you, but I want to make sure before we leave this that I understand the math.

The numbers that you were proposing that, you know, the Board's rates apply, we're talking about the dollar amount of long-term debt of the 6.9 million, right?  And --


MR. SHEPHERD:  6.6.

MS. DUFF:  Pardon me?

MR. SHEPHERD:  6.6 million.

MS. DUFF:  Oh, that's my eyesight.  Oh, I'm sorry.  Okay.  The 6.6 million, and that difference would apply to not only the difference of the long-term debt that isn't there, that's just deemed because of the 56 percent ratio, in addition to the affiliate debt, you were applying the Board's long-term debt rate for two-16 to those two parts?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It isn't actually applied separately, but the effect is true.  What happens is because they only have affiliate debt, whatever the rate is on the affiliate debt applies to their deemed debt.  So if the rate is 7.25, that's what applies to the deemed debt of 6.6 million.

MS. DUFF:  Okay.  I understand.  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, your evidence is that the notes have been lost, and if you go to pages 5 through 8 of our material, we've reproduced the four affidavits of loss, including the erroneous one.

These affidavits were prepared last week, right, except for the one that we just got.

MR. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When did ORPC first learn about the loss of the notes?  This is probably a question for Ms. Donnelly.  When did you first learn about the loss?

MS. DONNELLY:  During the settlement process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So prior to that time you thought there were promissory notes somewhere?

MS. DONNELLY:  Absolutely.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You never saw a copy of them?

MS. DONNELLY:  I have not seen a copy, but in my role as the CFO I've acted on it every quarter.  It has been in our financial statements.  I believed our lawyer and our auditor to have known that they existed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you've never confirmed that yourself?

MS. DONNELLY:  I have not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And Mr. Scott, have you ever confirmed with anybody that these notes actually existed at some point?

MR. SCOTT:  No, I can't say that I have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, with respect to Pembroke, you would have actually signed it, right?

MR. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't recall whether you signed a note or not?

MR. SCOTT:  As I mentioned earlier, there was a transition.  I wasn't re-elected, and when they moved into 2000, I just wasn't there for the follow-up.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, I'm asking about at the time.  You signed the agreements?

MR. SCOTT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So clearly if there was a promissory note you signed it, right?

MR. SCOTT:  If there was a promissory note I probably did.  But I cannot remember or recall.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.

MR. VELLONE:  Sorry, Jay, I'm just going to step in.  I think the promissory note would have been signed by whoever the head of the company was at the time, rather than the municipality.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, there you go.

MR. VELLONE:  It's a promise from the company to the municipality, just to clarify.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no, fair point.

All right.  So then let's assume there were promissory notes, and I'm going to come back to that, but if there were promissory notes, who would have had copies of them, as far as you can tell?

MR. SCOTT:  Each municipality, chief administrative officer in each municipality should have a copy.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, they would have had the originals, right?  These are --


MR. SCOTT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- negotiable instruments, so they would have the actual original notes, right?

MR. SCOTT:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  What about copies?  Who would have had copies?

MR. SCOTT:  I would expect that the lawyers that represented each municipality and possibly the accounting firms that acted with each municipality.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, certainly the accounting firm of ORPC would have had to have a copy at some point, right?  Because they did audited financials.


MR. SCOTT:  That's correct, and we did try and go down that route, but unfortunately the person that was responsible for it passed away approximately eight, nine months ago.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, now, you've asked the four municipalities, "Do you have the originals?  Do you have copies?" and they've said, "No, we can't find anything"?


MR. SCOTT:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And none of them have an explanation as to why -- none of them say, "Well, we had a fire and all of our documents were destroyed."  There is nothing like that.  They just can't find them, right?

MR. SCOTT:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And similarly with the law firms, there were five law firms involved in this transaction, right?

MR. SCOTT:  I know four for sure.  The fifth, I'm not sure which one you're talking about --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, there was one for ORPC and there was one for each of the municipalities, right?

MR. SCOTT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that would be five.

MR. SCOTT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so, now, one of the lawyers that was involved is now a judge, so he obviously doesn't have it any more, and another lawyer who was involved is at Justice Canada, at the Department of Justice, so she personally doesn't have it any more, but the other three lawyers would be around, right?

MR. SCOTT:  Yes, they are.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And they should have their copies of these, right?  They did the deal.  They should have their copies, right?

MR. SCOTT:  We pushed very hard to try and find that, and with no results.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You're aware that lawyers have an obligation to retain client documents, yes?  You're aware of that?

MR. SCOTT:  I'm not a legal expert, but I take your word at that, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is the sort of document you would expect a lawyer who drafted a promissory note would have a copy of, right?

MR. SCOTT:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But none of them have a copy?

MR. SCOTT:  None have a copy.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. VELLONE:  Would you like us to introduce the responses from the actual legal counsel on the record, for the benefit of the Panel?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No.  I realize that's what you're waiting for, Mr. Vellone.  About a week ago, I asked for letters from the law firm saying that they had -- they didn't have deal books, and they didn’t have copies of any of these documents.  And I think I was essentially told no.

But subsequently, I've been told this morning just before the hearing, that there are some emails from some of them.  And Mr. Vellone of course couldn't introduce them in direct evidence, because that would be improper.


But he is now trying to introduce it in response.  I'm okay with that, if you want to introduce this.

MS. FRY:  Do any other counsel have an objection to that?

MS. HELT:  I have no objection.

MR. VELLONE:  Just to characterize what Jay said a little bit differently, Jay gave us a heads-up on the nature of cross-examination questions that he was going to ask, which I realize --


MS. FRY:  Mr. Shepherd.

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Shepherd, yes, I apologize.  We recognize our witness with personal knowledge would not be able to speak to them.

So what we did is we reached out to each of the municipalities as well as the lawyers that we did know were available, and we asked them to respond to the nature of the questions which Mr. Shepherd gave us a heads-up on.  I received those responses yesterday.  We knew what he wanted to ask, so we did our best to compile responses for him.

MS. FRY:  Mr. Janigan, do you have any problem putting those on the record?

MR. JANIGAN:  I do not, Madam Chair.

MS. FRY:  So could you please put them on the record?

MR. VELLONE:  And have them marked as an exhibit, please?

MS. HELT:  Yes, we can mark the package of emails from counsel for the various municipalities and the City of Pembroke as Exhibit K4.
EXHIBIT NO. K4:  PACKAGE OF EMAILS FROM COUNSEL FOR THE VARIOUS MUNICIPALITIES AND THE CITY OF PEMBROKE

MS. FRY:  Let's take a few minutes' pause.  The Panel would like to read these, so we're better informed.

While we're reading, just a question of clarification.  I'm assuming the expression "deal book" is used to indicate the collection of closing documents for the transaction?

MR. VELLONE:  In respect of a corporate transaction, that's correct.  The challenge we have here is there is a municipal transaction, so the folks at the municipality generally think in terms of authorizing bylaws, transfer bylaws, and things like that.

A deal book is really a corporate law concept.  You do a corporation transaction, you come up with a book of everything that was relevant to that corporate transaction, correct.

MS. FRY:  That's what I thought closing documents, but I’m -- okay, as long as we know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't think that's actually correct.  Any lawyer who does a deal normally prepares a deal book.  It’s standard practice.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  If everybody is finished reading, please proceed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So here is what I'm concerned with.  The idea that ten or fifteen people would have had a copy or original of these notes and they've all disappeared doesn't strike me as logical.

And I guess I'm wondering whether the better explanation – and I’m asking you to tell me whether the better explanation is that promissory notes were simply not prepared at the time.  Is that reasonable?

MR. SCOTT:  I think there was a gap in follow-through.
There were changes in the people that were involved, there were political changes, and I would think it might be fair to say that they just were not done, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent, thank you.  And the one thing that concerns me with this -- the other ones, the other promissory notes are relatively small, although they're small municipalities, I guess.

But the Pembroke note is $4.4 million, and I would have thought that a negotiable instrument like that representing -- that's a pretty material amount to Pembroke, right?

MR. SCOTT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That a negotiable instrument like that, its loss would be a big deal.  The auditors would be concerned about it, the city would be concerned about it, somebody would have checked.

I guess I'm asking like -- can you explain why just suddenly last – you know, a few weeks ago we discovered that this $4.4 million negotiable instrument had disappeared?

MR. SCOTT:  I cannot answer that question.  I don't know the answer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I want to move to the new promissory notes, and you'll see those at pages 9 through 16 of our compendium; there are four of them.  And Mr. Scott, were you involved in the preparation of these new promissory notes?

MR. SCOTT:  No, not directly.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Who was?

MR. SCOTT:  I don't know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ms. Donnelly, who prepared these new promissory notes?

MS. DONNELLY:  Our lawyer did, John Vellone.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So Mr. Vellone drafted these, yes?

MS. DONNELLY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Who instructed him on what should be in them?  Was that you?

MS. DONNELLY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And what did you instruct him to put in them?

MS. DONNELLY:  The exact same as what was in the shareholders' agreement and the bylaws.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So here is why I'm asking that, because -- and if you just look at page 9, this is the easiest one; this is the Pembroke note.  They're all the same, right?

MS. DONNELLY:  I believe so, except for the amounts.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Except for the dollars, yes.  So if you look at number one on page 9 -- this is the Pembroke promissory note, the replacement note -- it says the interest rate is, and I'm quoting:

"Equal to the lesser of 7 1/4% per annum and the maximum interest allowed by the Ontario Energy Board based upon the OEB handbook, or any other regulation schedule or document prepared and enacted by the OEB", et cetera, et cetera.


So my question is, to the best of your knowledge, where did Mr. Vellone get that wording?

MS. DONNELLY:  That's in the shareholders' agreement, I believe.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it's not actually, so I’m asking -- if that's the only place you know where it was, that's fine.  He didn't have an original note to look at, right?

MS. DONNELLY:  No, because we have affidavits saying that no one can find the notes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Fine.  So you think that this wording came out of the shareholders' agreement?

MS. DONNELLY:  I believe so.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you have any other knowledge of where it may have come from?


MS. DONNELLY:  I thought it was in bylaws as well, produced by the municipalities.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then this note is only correct if it's consistent with those other documents, right?

MS. DONNELLY:  I'm not a lawyer.  I'm sorry, I don't know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I worded that inelegantly; my apology.


You didn't instruct your lawyer to make a different deal today, did you?

MS. DONNELLY:  No, I believe the deal is exact same that was made.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So what you're trying to do is you’re trying to get to the original wording as best you can, is that right?

MS. DONNELLY:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's what you instructed your lawyer to do?

MS. DONNELLY:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  So now, you’ve said in your pre-filed evidence that the interest rate was actually a fixed rate of 7.25 percent.  So this doesn't say fixed rate, does it?  So what is it?

MS. DONNELLY:  I believe this still says what the shareholders' agreement says.  There is a clause in there.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's not responsive to my -- the question is a very simple one.  You said fixed rate.  This does -- you agree this doesn't say fixed rate, does it?


MS. DONNELLY:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So which is it?


MS. DONNELLY:  I believe it's this.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So Mr. Scott, do you believe that there was a fixed rate of 7.25 percent agreed at the time of the deal?  Or was it some other rate?


MR. SCOTT:  No, I believe it was agreed upon at the time at 7.25 percent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Fixed?


MR. SCOTT:  Yes.  For 20 years.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It didn't go up, it didn't go down.


MR. SCOTT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.


MS. DONNELLY:  It didn't go down.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it didn't go up and didn't go down.  All right.  And can you explain, Mr. Scott or Ms. Donnelly, what this phrase "the maximum interest allowed by the Ontario Energy Board" et cetera, that clause, can you explain what you think that means?


MR. SCOTT:  I believe it means that, you know, we respect the Ontario Energy Board and try and do due diligence in accordance with their requirements.  However, having said that, we have been receiving and paying the 7.25 percent for almost 15 years, and not once has any representative or member requested any change.  Every municipality has expected that 7.25 percent without fail.


And I think it's fair to say as well to you, sir, that we took a risk when market opened.  Back in those days I can remember my mortgage being 17 percent.  The interest rate very well could have gone the other way rather than where it is today.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're saying that somewhere in those documents in 2000 you committed that it wouldn't go above 7.25 percent?


MR. SCOTT:  We've never had a request from any participating shareholder to adjust that.  It's been firm and fixed and paid for 15 years, and we expect it to be paid until full term.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that's not responsive to my question.  Is it your evidence that in 2000 the municipalities agreed that they would never ask for more than 7.25 percent?  I'm going to take you to the documents.


MR. SCOTT:  I believe that's a fair statement, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That they agreed that it wouldn't go above that?


MR. SCOTT:  I believe that we agreed that it would stay at a fixed rate of 7.25 percent for 20 years.  Period.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I wonder if we can then -- so let me just be clear, and this may actually be a question for your counsel.  I'm going to ask the witnesses, and counsel can jump in.


Is the company alleging that these new promissory notes are evidence of the obligations from the year 2000?


MR. VELLONE:  So, yes, that is what we are doing.  From time to time companies, clients of BLG, do lose negotiable instruments, they lose copies of promissory notes.  These are long-term notes.  It happens.  We're doing two active LDC files right now where the promissory notes are missing.  We're doing replacements.  It happens.


What we do in those circumstances is we prepare affidavits of loss from the person that's supposed to hold the notes, we prepare indemnities saying that if you find it you're not going to come back after us for that amount of money again, and then we prepare what is a replacement piece of paper evidencing what is the original promissory note based on the best information that we have available at the time to document that replacement note.


So really what we're doing is replacing the piece of paper, but the notion of the promissory note, the obligation to make payment, exists at law even without that piece of paper, so we're replacing a piece of paper.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, with respect, Madam Chair, the promissory notes are negotiable instruments.  They're not pieces of paper.  That's -- a piece of paper is a contract.  A negotiable instrument is something quite different, and we've just heard evidence that there may have never been original promissory notes.  That being the case, that's why I'm asking the question, are these evidence.


If there were no original promissory notes, these can't be evidence of the original promissory notes.


MS. FRY:  Okay.  Let me stop you there.  Certainly this is a very legitimate discussion, and I'm certain that both sides will be able to cover it amply in argument.  At this point, obviously, what we want to know is what do the witnesses know that can shed any light on this.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Absolutely.  I'll move on.


Let me go to page 17 -- and by the way, Madam Chair, I have about another 20 or 25 minutes, I think.  What time do you want to break?


MS. FRY:  Yeah, that's a good question.  I was thinking that perhaps you might be finished in maybe ten minutes.  But if it's going to be longer than that we should take a break imminently.  So if you could come to a convenient stopping point, we will take a --


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is probably a good time.


MS. FRY:  Oh, okay.  Fine.  Now, that clock I'm told is not accurate.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not.


MS. FRY:  By my watch it's about eleven o'clock, so let's take a break until 11:20.

--- Recess taken at 11:00 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:21 a.m.

MS. FRY:  Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Mr. Scott, I think this is for you.  Can you turn to page 17 of our materials, Exhibit K3?  You’ll see this is bylaw No. 2000-31 of the City of Pembroke.  You're familiar with this document?


MR. SCOTT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And we’ve got pages 1, 4, and some of the schedules here, rather than the full thing.  But you were actually there at the time, and you signed this document, this bylaw, didn’t you?


MR. SCOTT:  I was the mayor of the day, yes, and I did sign it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And if you go to page 18, it says in 10B -- it's hard to read, because it's an old document.  But it says that part of the payment by Ottawa River Power Corporation to the city for the assets transferred to ORPC is in the form of a promissory note having, and I am reading this, "a principal amount equal to $4,364,000 as set out in schedule G attached herein"; is that correct?


MR. SCOTT:  Yes.


MS. FRY:  Excuse me, schedule J?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Schedule G.  I’m going to come to schedule J as well, but --


MS. FRY:  I'm looking in the wrong place.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That’s a different one.  This is in 10B near the top, it’s not 11 --


MS. FRY:  Thank you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  11B -- maybe I can just clarify this right now.  11B is the purchase of the assets by the unregulated affiliate, isn't that right?


MR. SCOTT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's like the water heaters, and stuff like that.

MR. SCOTT:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's a separate transaction, and there was a separate promissory note.


MR. SCOTT:  Yes, I understand.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But the utility assets were sold under 10, under section 10 here, and the debt component was $4,364,000, correct, a promissory note.


MR. SCOTT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you can go to page 19, this is schedule G.  Now this is not the actual promissory note, is it?


MR. SCOTT:  I don't believe so, no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is just a description of what's supposed to be in it, is that right?


MR. SCOTT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So now I’m going down to the interest clause, and you'll see -- it's about halfway down – "to bear interest at an effective rate currently 7.25 percent per annum, term and interest to be renegotiated annually."

So do you want to characterize what you thought that meant?


MR. SCOTT:  The option was there for the shareholders, if they agreed, to look at the term interest annually.  However, none of the shareholders have ever asked to do that.  Everybody has been firm that it remain 7.25 for the 20-year period.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would they ask for it, when they're getting above market interest rates?  I'm not sure I understand.


MR. SCOTT:  They were above market interest rates based on today's rate, but that rate could have gone either way.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Since 2000, have market rates ever been higher than 7.25 percent once?


MR. SCOTT:  I don't know.  I don't think so, but I'm not sure.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Isn't it true for the last fifteen years -- you just made the argument well.  The company has been paying 7.25 percent for fifteen years.  One way of looking at that is the company has been overpaying on interest for fifteen years, and the ratepayers had to pay for it; isn't that right?


MR. SCOTT:  I suppose you could look at it that way.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What it looks to me like it's saying is that the effective rate is a rate to be negotiated annually, and it's only currently 7.25 percent.  Isn't that what it says?


MR. SCOTT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Does it say anywhere that the rate is the lesser of 7.25 percent and anything else?


MR. SCOTT:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Does it say anywhere that the 7.25 is a cap on the interest rate?


MR. SCOTT:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Now schedule J on the other hand, that's what the promissory note that was issued for the unregulated assets, right?


MR. SCOTT:  I believe so, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's at a different interest rate. It's actually a prime rate; it’s prime plus 1 percent, right?


MR. SCOTT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And why wouldn't the interest rate on the regulated assets, which are presumably the lower risk assets, the lower risk company, why wouldn't that be prime plus something?


MR. SCOTT:  I don't know a lot of details about Ottawa River Energy because I don't sit on that Board.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought they said you were chairman of the board.


MR. SCOTT:  I'm chair of Ottawa River Power Corporation, not the energy one.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, right.  So you don't know why they would have a better interest rate than ORPC?


MR. SCOTT:  No, I do not.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But they still have a better interest rate, right?

MR. SCOTT:  It would appear to be so.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's still the same promissory note today, isn't it?


MR. SCOTT:  Again, I think so, yes.


R. SHEPHERD:  Now schedule M is the original – is excerpts.  This is starting on page 21 of our materials, and this is excerpts from the original shareholders' agreement, right?


MR. SCOTT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Before I go to that, can you go to page 19 for a second?  It says, "Term and interest to be renegotiated annually."

To the best of your knowledge -- and you've been on council for quite a few of those years, right, and on the board of ORPC for quite a few of these years, right?


MR. SCOTT:  I have been, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  To the best of your knowledge, have the term and interest ever been renegotiated?


MR. SCOTT:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why not?  If it says they're to be renegotiated annually, why haven't they been renegotiated annually?


MR. SCOTT:  It was the understanding that it was a fixed term for twenty years at 7.25 percent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, this actually says the term is to be renegotiated annually.


MR. SCOTT:  There was no request to do that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You sat on the board.


MR. SCOTT:  I did not make a request for it, nor did any other Board members.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Why not?


MR. SCOTT:  We were of the understanding, again, that it was a fixed term for twenty years.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Had you ever read this before today, before this proceeding?


MR. SCOTT:  I'm sure I've read it.  But in the last few weeks, I've focused a lot more on it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right, thank you.  Let's come back to the shareholders' agreement, which starts on page 21.  We’ve just got some excerpts from it, three pages of it.

This is the original shareholders' agreement that was entered into at the time of the initial transaction with just Pembroke and Beachburg, right?


MR. SCOTT:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And subsequently, there was a new shareholders' agreement done when you added Killaloe and Mississippi Mills?


MR. SCOTT:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Here I'm looking at page 22, it says -- this is what the shareholders' agreement says, right?  That the corporation shall pay interest -- this is in 7B at the bottom; do you see that?


MR. SCOTT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  "The corporation shall pay interest on

the promissory notes to Beachburg and to Pembroke on the respective notes in an amount not to exceed the maximum interest allowed by the Ontario Energy Board based on their handbook or other regulation”, et cetera.


Is there anywhere in there that it says 7.25 percent?


MR. SCOTT:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Does it say anywhere there is a maximum, except whatever the Board allows?


MR. SCOTT:  It just reflects that the Ontario Energy Board or any other regulatory authority for the utilities may decide, but nothing was done.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It agrees the interest rate is going to be an amount not to exceed the maximum that the Board allows; is that right?


MR. SCOTT:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It doesn't say anything else?


MR. SCOTT:  I don't believe so.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now if you go to page 24, page 24 and 25 are a bylaw from 2003.  Can you tell me what this was?


MR. SCOTT:  My copy isn't clear.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Maybe I can prompt you, and you can tell me if I’m correct.


In 2003, the province required everybody who had set up an LDC to confirm they wanted their LDC to operate on a profit-making basis.  And that's what this bylaw does?


MS. FRY:  You may find it's clearer if you look at the screen.


MR. SCOTT:  I believe that's correct, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And what this says as part of the bylaw -- this is from 2003, right?  January 21st, 2003, right?

MR. SCOTT:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you were not mayor then, so this is not your signature, right?

MR. SCOTT:  No, it's not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So on page 24 you'll see as part of the recitals it says:

"The maximum return on equity for the municipality at the present time is 4.17 percent and the return on interest on the promissory note is 7.25 percent and the combined return is 5.71 percent."

You were aware of that?

MR. SCOTT:  I cannot say that I was aware previous to today, but I'm reading it now and seeing it, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And this does not say that the promissory note is in any way fixed at 7.25, does it?  It actually says that the rate at the present time is 7.25 percent; isn't that right?

MR. SCOTT:  That's what it says, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And similarly, the utility is not asking in this proceeding for 4.17 percent on ROE, is it?

MR. SCOTT:  I don't believe so, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I'm asking, actually, Ms. Donnelly.

MR. SCOTT:  Okay.

MS. DONNELLY:  No, we're still asking for the 7.25 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I'm talking about on ROE.  This says that the ROE allowed is 4.17 percent.  But that's not true any more now.  It's 9.19, right?  Something like that?

MS. DONNELLY:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So that now brings us up to a more current document.  I'm not going to go through the Beachburg, Killaloe, and Mississippi Mills documents except to say you don't agree that the terms of those with respect to interest are the same?

MR. SCOTT:  Yes, I would.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So none of them say that the 7.25 percent is a maximum?  I can take you through them if you like, but --


MR. SCOTT:  No, I think I can agree with that, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And none of them say the 7.25 percent is a fixed rate.

MR. SCOTT:  I believe that is correct, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So now let's go to the -- to page 36 of our materials, and can you identify what this document is?  If it can be of assistance, I think this --


MR. SCOTT:  The issuing of the shares to the participating municipalities?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, I think, actually -- and you can confirm if this is right -- that this is the subsequent shareholders' agreement once you had four shareholders.

MR. SHORTS:  Yes, I would agree.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Good.  And so if you go to page 37, this is section 13 of that agreement, starts at the bottom, deals with the promissory note.  And I'm looking through this, and I see no reference to 7.25 percent and I see no reference to a fixed rate.  What I see is that it is in fact a variable rate based on whatever the Board says is the maximum.  Isn't that what it says?

MR. SCOTT:  I believe that's correct, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, it's quite clear here that the shareholders are assuming, if you take a look at the bottom of page 38 in section 13(e), that they're assuming that the Ontario Energy Board in the future will change the maximum rate of interest, and when that change happens, that will be the new maximum for these promissory notes; isn't that what it says?

MR. SCOTT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ms. Donnelly, were you aware that this agreement said this?

MS. DONNELLY:  I am aware of what it says.  My understanding with regard to the reference to the Ontario energy handbook was that it would set the rate at the prevailing rate that the handbook allowed at the time of the issuance of the promissory notes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're saying that's what you thought the -- what was intended in 2000, when this was signed?

MS. DONNELLY:  I believe that to be true.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because that's not what the handbook said then, so that's why I'm wondering.  The handbook didn't say that until 2006.

MS. DONNELLY:  I'm sorry, that's my recollection.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, what are you recollecting?  You're not recollecting from 2000.  You weren't at the company at that time.

MS. DONNELLY:  I joined the company October 31st, 2000.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then --


MS. DONNELLY:  But I was not party to the shareholders' agreement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When was the first time you saw the shareholders' agreement?

MS. DONNELLY:  Perhaps sometime in 2001.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And did somebody tell you what it meant?  What that interest clause meant?

MS. DONNELLY:  Yes, I believe it was the auditors at that time, and then we did not start paying the -- the only thing I know -- the only thing that I confirm is that we did not start to pay the interest until May 2002.  And it was always my understanding from discussion that the reference in the shareholders' agreement was to the prevailing rate at that time that the agreement was set.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And where do you see that there?  Can you just point out where it says that?

MS. DONNELLY:  The reference to the handbook?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, the reference to it being the prevailing rate at the time you enter into the agreement to pay the interest.

MS. DONNELLY:  That was just my understanding.  It may not be there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MS. FRY:  Can I just interrupt, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MS. FRY:  So you're referring to the OEB handbook at the relevant time.  Can you help me, is there an excerpt from the handbook of that vintage on the record?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't have one, but I could ask whether the Board Staff have one.

MS. DONNELLY:  I believe that when rates were -- when I first came in back in 2000 -- this is my recollection -- when we first came in in 2000, I did a rate application in 2001 where we amalgamated all the rates, and at that point 7.25 percent was the deemed interest rate.

MR. VELLONE:  And if it helps, Madam Chair, we are kind of venturing a little bit into argument.  I do have an excerpt from the handbook available and do intend to bring the Panel's and everybody's attention to that excerpt as part of my final argument.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  If you have it, I think it would be useful to mark it as an exhibit now since it's been referred to in cross.

MR. VELLONE:  We have it electronically because I was going to do it as part of submissions.

MS. HELT:  If I may just interject --


MS. FRY:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  -- Madam Chair, Board Staff does have one page from that handbook as page 1 of our compendium, which just shows that the rate in 2004 -- the deemed rate for those utilities with a rate base under 100 million to be 7.25 percent.

MS. FRY:  And just to be clear, Mr. Shepherd, is that what you were referring to?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. FRY:  All right.  Staff, in the course of the proceedings could you arrange for some copies of that page?  Or...

MS. HELT:  Yes, we can do that right now if you'd like, and would you like it marked as a separate exhibit then?

MS. FRY:  Yes, if you have enough person power to do that without stopping the flow, that would be --


MS. HELT:  Certainly.  We'll mark that Exhibit K5, and it will be a reference to a page from the EDR handbook issued November 3rd, 2000 dealing with establishing initial unbundled rates, pages 3-7.

MS. FRY:  Right.  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. K5:  PAGE FROM THE EDR HANDBOOK ISSUED NOVEMBER 3RD, 2000 DEALING WITH ESTABLISHING INITIAL UNBUNDLED RATES, PAGES 3-7.

MS. HELT:  I'm not sure if I said Exhibit K5.

Ms. Armstrong, you're actually passing around the full compendium.  We were just going to mark the single page as an exhibit.

MS. FRY:  Well, we will just look at the page --


MS. HELT:  Okay.  So then --


MS. FRY:  -- and you can just take care of the exhibit numbers as appropriate.

MS. HELT:  All right.  So we'll mark our compendium then as Exhibit K6 --


MS. FRY:  You just tell us what page it is.  What page is it?

MS. HELT:  It's the first page of the compendium.

MS. FRY:  Oh.  Yes, so it is.
EXHIBIT NO. K6:  PANEL 1 CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM OF BOARD STAFF.

MS. DUFF:  It's in Times New Roman -- in the font, I think.  Yes.

MS. FRY:  Go ahead, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ms. Donnelly, Mr. Scott, I've taken you to a number of places where the interest rate is referred to in these documents.

The promissory notes, if they were ever prepared, would be helpful, but we don't have them.  So we only have these items as evidence.

Is there anywhere else that you can point us to that says -- contemporaneous documents from 2000 or 2002 for that matter, that says that the interest rate is fixed at 7.25 percent, or that it's a maximum 7.25 percent?  Can you point us to any evidence of that?

MR. SCOTT:  No, I cannot.

MS. DONNELLY:  No, I cannot.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me turn briefly to term, because you’ve said it's a fixed term of 20 years, and the shareholders' agreement in fact says it will be a 20-year term.

But it's true, isn't it, that there is no restriction on the company repaying it earlier, is there?

MR. SCOTT:  I do not know the answer to that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you point me to anywhere in the evidence that says that the company may not pay the debt back prior to 20 years?

MR. SCOTT:  I'm sorry, I cannot. No, I don’t know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ms. Donnelly?

MS. DONNELLY:  I don't see anything in the evidence.  But as stated before, it was my understanding that it was a 20-year term from May 1, 2002, for 20 years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You knew you were paying more than market rates for interest, right?

MS. DONNELLY:  I -- this was the first time I worked in a regulated entity, and it was my understanding we were paying regulated rates.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, but leave that aside.  You're running a company, right, and when you're running that company aren't you trying to keep the costs down?

MS. DONNELLY:  I believe that Ottawa River Power Corporation has one of the lowest rates in the province, so I believed we were doing that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you didn't look at whether you could pay less in interest?

MS. DONNELLY:  I've said it, and I'll state it again, I believed it was a 20-year term from May 1, 2002.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not asking that question.  I'm not asking what the terms of the note were now.  I'm asking you as management.  You're the CFO, right?

MS. DONNELLY:  Yes, I am.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you as management ever ask the question can we pay less interest?

MS. DONNELLY:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why not?

MS. DONNELLY:  Because I believed the term to be 20 years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Therefore, you didn't believe you had a choice?

MS. DONNELLY:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you ever ask anybody that?  Did you ever ask for legal advice from your lawyers, can we pay this off?  Did you ever go to the bank and say would you give us a loan at a lower amount, ever at any time?

MS. DONNELLY:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  To the best of your knowledge, did anybody at the company ever do that?

MS. DONNELLY:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Scott, you're the chairman of the Board of ORPC; right?

MR. SCOTT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have a fiduciary responsibility to the company; yes?

MR. SCOTT:  Yes, I do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you ever asked the question can you pay less interest on this debt?

MR. SCOTT:  No, I’ve not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why not?

MR. SCOTT:  Because I believed as well it was a fixed term for 20 years at 7.25 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And therefore that the company had to keep paying 7.25 percent, even though it was above market?

MR. SCOTT:  That's my understanding, sir.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you ever ask legal advice?  Did you ever ask management is there some way can you pay this off, so that we can pay less interest?

MR. SCOTT:  No, I did not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have no further questions.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. FRY:  Thank you very much.  Mr. Janigan?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Janigan:


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Mr. Shepherd has covered a fair amount of the areas that I intended to cover.

I just want to understand in terms of the sequence of events.  You have at page 65 of your compendium the initial shareholders' agreement that was appended to the bylaw.  Do you have that before you?

Now the date on that is January 1, 2000.  However, it appears in the bylaw that was passed in June of 2000.  Is that correct, that it was entered into in January 2000, or was it simply drawn up in January 2000 and executed thereafter?

MR. SCOTT:  I'm not sure, Madam Chair, that I know the answer to that.  I might have to defer to our lawyer.

MS. FRY:  You can only answer what you know.

MR. SCOTT:  Yes, thank you.

MR. VELLONE:  I can add clarity, if it's helpful, but only if counsel thinks it’s --


MR. JANIGAN:  Mr. Vellone might have further information.

MR. VELLONE:  The transition from municipal corporations doing these businesses to LDCs regulated by the Ontario Energy Board was one that took some time at the passage of the Energy Competition Act.

There was actually quite a bit of delay after the effective date of when these corporations were supposed to be created, January 1st, and when they were actually created.

What ended up happening was the government introduced a transfer tax incentive, which motivated a lot of these utilities to get it done in June instead of January of that year.  So what you see is bylaws dated effective January 1st, but signed some other time in the year.


That was our experience doing other incorporations.  We didn't do this one, but I expect it's probably similar in this case.

MR. JANIGAN:  My friend has taken you to the passage in the bylaw that references the 7.25 percent as being renegotiated -- subject to renegotiation every year.  And I take it I take it after passage of this bylaw which was June 6, 2000, that there were promissory notes signed; is that correct?

MR. SCOTT:  That would be my understanding, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And it was those promissory notes that were subject to the amending agreement that was signed on November 3rd -- for some reason the lawyers correspondence says November 2nd, while the agreement says November 3rd.

That's in part J of your compendium; am I correct on that?  For Pembroke, it was the June 6, 2000, promissory note that was purported to be amended, if it existed.

MR. SCOTT:  That would appear to be correct, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And following that execution of the June 6 promissory note, there was the shareholders' agreement that you have included in your affidavit of October 1, 2000; is that correct?

MR. SCOTT:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now if, as you’ve indicated, that the promissory note had provided a fixed 7.25 percent interest for 20 years, why didn't the shareholders' agreement reflect that reality?

MR. SCOTT:  I don't know the answer to that.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  In fact, I think as my friend has taken you to the shareholders' agreement, and I believe it's at part -- the October 1st shareholders' agreement is at part -- trying to find it in your compendium -- at part I.  It provides in Section 13 once again sort of language that is subject to -- seems that it's subject to adjustment.  Will you agree to that?

MR. SCOTT:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And it's forward-looking in terms of looking at the maximum interest rate.  And it's, you can say, the maximum interest rate allowed by the Ontario Energy Board based on their handbook or any other regulation schedule document to be prepared or enacted by them and their successors, Ontario Energy Board, and any other entity with regulatory authority for the utilities in the Province of Ontario.


Now, this is something like four months after the promissory notes were supposed to be executed.  Why was -- what was the necessity for this language?

MR. SCOTT:  I'm sorry, I don't know.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, dealing with the new promissory notes, the affidavit notes that these are new promissory notes and that they will surrender the old promissory notes if they find them to be cancelled; is that correct?

MR. SCOTT:  Yes, if they find them.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And it has -- in the new promissory notes that have been drafted, it has a reference to the May 1st maturity date, which I find difficult to figure out -- to understand how that could have been a recapitulation of the original promissory note if they were made in January of -- sorry, made in June of 2000 when the market opening date would not have been known.

MR. SCOTT:  Sorry, I'm at a loss to answer that as well.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MR. SCOTT:  Sorry.

MS. FRY:  Excuse me, I think Ms. Donnelly said that she was the one who gave instructions at that point; is that right?

MS. DONNELLY:  I did give instructions to the lawyer to create a document to replace the lost promissory notes according to the shareholders' agreement and bylaws that we had provided.  I didn't give him direct wording.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MS. FRY:  So you're not aware of any -- you don't recall any discussion of the May 1st date?

MS. DONNELLY:  No.

MR. JANIGAN:  But Ms. Donnelly, the provisions of the promissory notes seem to be different than what the initial promissory note would have been, first then being, of course, that the initial promissory note issued in June of 2000 would not have known when the maturity date was, because it was predicated on the opening of the market.  And secondly, the interest rate that's provided doesn't seem to be the interest rate -- or doesn't seem to be the same wording that appears in the shareholders' agreement or in the bylaw.  Would you agree with that?

MS. DONNELLY:  I don't know.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.

MS. DONNELLY:  I would have to go back and look at everything, sorry.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Mr. Scott, I wonder if I could take you back to your affidavit briefly.  And particularly in paragraph 23.  It would appear to me that one of the main reasons that this new rate was not negotiated was that it -- the municipalities relied upon the stream of income from the utility for their own use.  Is that correct?

MR. SCOTT:  That is correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And after a period of time, you said 15 years, I would assume that that reliance becomes more compelling.

MR. SCOTT:  For every $175,000 that we receive it represents a 1 percent increase on the tax base.

MR. JANIGAN:  Now, in terms of the acceptance of risk, I mean, you indicate in your -- in paragraph 23 in terms of, that both sides accepted risk with respect to this.


I take it that in the event that the municipalities had wanted to increase the rate in conformance with the Ontario Energy Board deemed debt rate, they were essentially the directing mind of the -- of the utility and could have done so if they wished.


MR. SCOTT:  I think your statement is correct that if they chose to do that there were options there to allow for that to happen.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And basically it's not really a negotiation, effectively.  The municipalities would be pointing to the fact that the Ontario Energy Board was allowing a higher deemed debt rate and they would have asked the utility to provide it.


MR. SCOTT:  Yes, I would agree with that comment.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And I note that in paragraph 24 you indicate that the interest rate on the Pembroke note reflects a subsidy given to ORPC by Pembroke in the form of a below-market rental rate on a commercial building, and they indicate that if Pembroke can no longer receive the agreed-upon interest rate on the note the parties will be forced to renegotiate the rent payable on the property.


I take it that reflects more the fact that the municipalities would be forcing the utility to renegotiate that rate?

MR. SCOTT:  Yes, that could happen.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  So going back in terms of the risk in terms of the fixed rate or a non-callable rate, in effect they -- would you agree with me that the municipalities had much more leverage to negotiate either a new interest rate or in conformance with a higher deemed rate if that was the case?

MR. SCOTT:  I believe that option is there, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And in fact, the utility itself would have very little recourse, given the municipality's reliance on this money to negotiate a lower rate in the event that the deemed rate fell below the 7.25 percent?

MR. SCOTT:  And again, I believe that that option is available.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  One last question.  I think my friend touched upon it, but I wasn't too clear.  Ottawa River Energy Solutions pops up from time to time in this -- in the documents.  And as -- including a letter from counsel, I think, in part J of your affidavit that there was promissory notes that were executed to Energy Solutions to -- by Ottawa Energy Solutions to Pembroke and to Beachburg, I believe?

MR. SCOTT:  Yes, I believe that's correct, yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  And they have nothing to do with the indebtedness that we're talking about in this circumstance.


MR. SCOTT:  No, the Energy Solutions are a separate corporation.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And does that corporation still exist?

MR. SCOTT:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  I believe those are all my questions, Madam Chair.

MS. FRY:  Thank you.  Ms. Helt, how long do you expect you will be?

MS. HELT:  Given that a lot of questions have been covered by both Mr. Shepherd and Mr. Janigan, probably not more than 20 minutes.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  So what I would like to do is go ahead with Ms. Helt's cross, and then we'll take, since we are ahead of the game, we'll take an hour and a half for lunch, which will give counsel some latitude to prepare their argument and then launch into argument after lunch.  The Panel may have a few questions, but Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I just wonder whether it's appropriate to have reply questions prior to lunch if there are any.

MS. FRY:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Redirect, that is.

MS. FRY:  Yes.


MR. VELLONE:  Yeah, I only have one so far, Jay, and I can do that before lunch.

MS. FRY:  Thank you.

Okay, Ms. Helt.
Cross-Examination by Ms. Helt:


MS. HELT:  Thank you, Ms. Fry.  I believe Ms. Armstrong has already circulated the Board Staff compendium which we have marked as Exhibit K6.  I apologize in advance.  Some of the documents in the compendium have already been covered off through my friend's cross-examination, so I won't necessarily be turning to every page of the document.

So my first few questions really are to confirm some of the statements made in response to the questions you've already received, with respect to the existence or not of the promissory note.

And I believe your evidence, Mr. Scott, was that you agreed with Mr. Shepherd's characterization that it may be fair to say there were gaps, and the notes themselves may not have been executed in 2000; is that correct?

MR. SCOTT:  That is correct.

MS. HELT:  You yourself do not recall ever seeing the promissory note document itself?

MR. SCOTT:  No, I have not seen them.

MS. HELT:  And your understanding of the note was that the terms of the note were actually contained in the transfer agreement; is that correct?

MR. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MS. HELT:  And the terms of the note were also set out in the shareholders' agreement?

MR. SCOTT:  Correct again, yes.

MS. HELT:  And the shareholders' agreement and the transfer agreement both talk about the interest on the note to be renegotiated annually; is that correct?

MR. SCOTT:  Yes, they do.

MS. HELT:  And it's been your position throughout that your understanding was that the term of the note was both fixed with respect to being 7.25 percent; is that correct?

MR. SCOTT:  That is correct.

MS. HELT:  And the length of time was for 20 years?

MR. SCOTT:  Correct.

MS. HELT:  And I apologize if I'm going over ground already covered by my friends, but as none of the documents -- and correct me if I'm wrong -- specifically state that the rate is a fixed rate, how did you come to the view that it was a fixed rate of 7.25 percent?

MR. SCOTT:  Again it was the understanding of the shareholders that it was a fixed rate of 7.25 percent over a 20-year fixed term.

MS. HELT:  Do you have any recollection of where that understanding came from?

MR. SCOTT:  I can't specifically recall where, no.

MS. HELT:  Have you had discussions with some of the other shareholders since these questions have been raised, as to what their understanding is of that fixed nature of the 7.25 percent?

MR. SCOTT:  Yes, I have.  I've spoken with representatives from all four of the participating municipalities, and it is their understanding that it is a fixed term at 7.25 percent.

MS. HELT:  Yet they have not been able to provide any documentation to you to confirm the fixed nature of the note?

MR. SCOTT:  My discussions were strictly verbal, and I can confirm with you that what I've said is accurate.

MS. HELT:  All right.  Thank you.  And the 7.25 percent was the deemed OEB rate at the time, is that correct?

MR. SCOTT:  From what I've seen today, yes, I believe so.

MS. HELT:  And just in reference for the Panel, that's found at page one of our compendium.

You've also indicated to Mr. Shepherd that you never sought to have the rate renegotiated on the note, the rate of 7.25 percent?

MR. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MS. HELT:  It never came to your mind?

MR. SCOTT:  Never to my mind, no.

MS. HELT:  It was never raised to you by anybody else on the board?

MR. SCOTT:  Never.

MS. HELT:  And you were aware the market rate was lower over the last number of years than the deemed rate of -- or the 7.25 percent that you were paying?

MR. SCOTT:  Yes, I was aware of that.

MS. HELT:  And in your affidavit -- and Mr. Janigan pointed you to paragraphs 23 and 24 -- one of the things you say in paragraph 24 is that the interest rate on the Pembroke note reflects a subsidy given to ORPC by Pembroke in the form of a below-market rental rate on the commercial building described in schedule L to the Pembroke transfer bylaw.

So you acknowledge that the higher rate was subsidized through a lower rental payment to the city; is that your evidence?

MR. SCOTT:  Yes.

MS. HELT:  Were there any other subsidies that you were receiving for a higher interest rate?

MR. SCOTT:  None that I'm aware of.

MS. HELT:  Would the subsidies come into consideration when you would review the terms of your arrangement with the municipalities for the payment of the interest on an annual basis?

MR. SCOTT:  If that were to happen, we would certainly have to look at the rental rate as well.

MS. HELT:  To your recollection, has that happened when you've been reviewing the rental rates?

MR. SCOTT:  Never.

MS. HELT:  How can it be considered a form of subsidy?  Why would you call it a subsidy for a higher rate?

MR. SCOTT:  I understand that the rental rate is a very low rate, so that it would be, I guess, below the anticipated rate that any landlord would be charging.

MS. HELT:  And there was never any discussion that that lower rate was to act as a subsidy for a higher than market value interest rate?

MR. SCOTT:  No, I think that's fair to say.  I agree.

MS. HELT:  All right.  If I can just turn to pages 13 through to 15 of the Board Staff compendium, these are copies of pages from Ottawa River Power Corporation’s notes to financial statements.  And I have shown this to Mr. Vellone prior to putting these into the compendium and into evidence.

I just ask the witness to -- on page 13, you will note at the top of the page it talks about this is the year ended December 13, 2006, and this document was obtained from a triple-R filing as well as a previous rate application of Ottawa River, so it's a public document.

At the bottom of the page, it states:
"This note bears interest at 7.25 percent with the term and interest rate to be renegotiated annually."


And the interest is calculated annually.

Would you have reviewed -- were you actually with Ottawa River at the time this financial statement would have been prepared?

MR. SCOTT:  Sorry, what is the date on that?

MS. HELT:  2006.

MR. SCOTT:  Yes, I would have been on the board at that time.

MS. HELT:  So you would have reviewed the financial statements?

MR. SCOTT:  Yes, we would have.

MS. HELT:  Again, would you agree the financial statement and in fact your auditor had noted the interest rate would be -- "to be renegotiated annually" is the wording set out on the financial statement?

MR. SCOTT:  I would agree with that.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  And then if I can ask you to turn to page 14, and it's a similar financial statement.  The handwritten notation at the top just reflects the file number from which this document was extracted.

And you will see, Mr. Scott, that at the top it reflects that this is a note to the financial statement for the year ended December 31, 2007.  And again, you would have been on the board at the time that the notes were prepared?  Is that correct?

MR. SCOTT:  I was on the Board at that time.


MS. HELT:  Yes, and you would have reviewed the financial statements?

MR. SCOTT:  Yes, I would have.

MS. HELT:  And if we go to the middle of the page under the long-term debt section, it again says:

"This note bears interest at 7.25 percent with the term and interest rate to be renegotiated annually."


MR. SCOTT:  That is correct.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.  And then on page 15 of Staff's compendium.  Again, the number at the top right corner reflect the file number from which this document was extracted.

This is a note to financial statement document for the year ended December 31, 2008.  Again, Mr. Scott, you were on the board at the time?

MR. SCOTT:  I was.

MS. HELT:  You would have reviewed the financial statements?

MR. SCOTT:  Yes, I did.

MS. HELT:  And at the bottom of the page, it reflects for long-term debt:

"Interest on promissory notes is calculated annually and payable quarterly to the shareholders."


Do you see that?

 MR. SCOTT:  Yes, I do.

MS. HELT:  This language is different from are the two previous two financial statements with respect to how interest is to be calculated on the promissory notes.  Do you recall why that change was made?

MR. SCOTT:  I'm sorry, I cannot recall why.


MS. HELT:  Is there any thought you may have as to why it may have changed?


MR. SCOTT:  No, I'm sorry, I do not know.


MS. HELT:  All right.  Thank you.


MS. DUFF:  Did you change your auditors at any point during that period, do you remember?  External?


MR. SCOTT:  No, no.


MS. DUFF:  Thank you.


MS. HELT:  All right.  Thank you.


Right.  Now, I want to change gears a little bit and just talk about the 7.25 percent interest that you are paying to the municipalities.  The OEB's filing requirements require that the -- or state the OEB's determination on electricity distribution applications are guided by the need to achieve outcomes that result in genuine benefits for customers.  You're aware of the RRFE and the outcomes-based approach to rate applications?


MR. SCOTT:  I think I have a general understanding of that, yes.


MS. HELT:  All right.  Can you then just help me understand what additional benefits there may be for customers as a result of the long-term debt arrangement that you have at this rate of 7.25 percent.


MR. SCOTT:  Well, the amount of dollars that are paid to -- and I can speak to specifically only for the City of Pembroke, because I did have the opportunity to chair finance for the City for a number of years.  Anywhere between 300 to $700,000 a year comes directly to the municipality, and as I mentioned earlier, for approximately $175,000 that represents a 1 percent on the tax base.  In years where we don't achieve the 5 or $600,000 in dollars from ORPC, it can have a very dramatic effect on the tax base, and the tax base is based on the municipality, and again, the municipality owns the Ottawa River Power Corporation, so there is a direct benefit to the taxpayers by these dollars that are provided annually.


MS. HELT:  And you say there is a direct benefit to the taxpayers.  What about the ratepayers?


MR. SCOTT:  The ratepayers and the taxpayers I'm using as the --


MS. HELT:  As one and the same?


MR. SCOTT:  Yes.


MS. HELT:  And why is that?


MR. SCOTT:  Well, it means that if we didn't have that revenue annually, instead of looking at a 2 or 3 percent increase for our ratepayers, that increase might be 5 or 6 percent.  And I don't know whether there would be an uprising or not, but that would certainly get the reaction from the ratepayers if we had to adjust increases annually to anything over 3 percent.


MS. HELT:  So -- and I realize I may be asking a question that isn't intended to be argument, but it seems to me that there is a bit of a conflict then between the taxpayer and the ratepayer, and as -- do you not feel as chair of the utility that you are there to provide a benefit to customers?


MR. SCOTT:  It does put me in a difficult situation, because you're right, there are two parties here, and in my mind I think that the general overall benefit is to both parties because of the locally owned operation, local employees, local monies, local benefit, and then to the taxpayer there's benefits there as well.


MS. HELT:  All right.  Thank you.


The RRFE -- and when I use that you understand what I'm referring to, the Renewed Regulatory Framework for --


MR. SCOTT:  Yes.


MS. HELT:  Yes, okay.  It contemplates the delivery of outcomes for customers, including financial performance.  So has ORPC assessed how well it has performed with its current cost of debt?


MR. SCOTT:  I believe they have.


MS. HELT:  And can you give me some examples then of how well you have performed with this cost of debt?


MR. SCOTT:  I'm sorry, I cannot answer that.  I don't know the details enough.


MS. HELT:  And you've never -- and correct me if I'm wrong, but have you -- you've never considered how well you would perform if you had a lower cost of debt?


MR. SCOTT:  No.


MS. FRY:  I'm wondering if Ms. Donnelly might be able to shed some light on that.


MR. SCOTT:  Yes.


MS. DONNELLY:  Thank you.  We're -- I guess -- in the utility we're completely aware of the -- our responsibility to our customers.  I said earlier we've always prided ourselves on having some of the lowest rates in the province.  We believe we serve our customers well with our current rates with the 7.25 percent.  Evidence of that, we can see regularly we have people that live on one side of the street, and if you go to the OEB website and you look at our bill, $110, and if you look across the street at the customer that's not Ottawa River Power, for the same 800 kilowatt hours, it's 134, so I think we analyze that regularly, and again believe that we have served our customers well.


And I don't know if this is appropriate now, but we have been approved, and I guess I thought that was evidence as well in our last rate hearing that we were doing what the Energy Board thought we should be doing.


MS. HELT:  Yes, and I appreciate that, and I thank you for that answer, Ms. Montgomery (sic), and certainly if I'm asking questions it's free to either of you to answer, but just to follow-up on that, Ms. Montgomery, you've said that when you -- it is Ms. Montgomery, right?


MS. DONNELLY:  No.  Now I'm married to someone else.


MS. HELT:  I saw Mr. Vellone and Mr. Shepherd -- my apologies.  I don't know where I got that from, but it was obviously not right.  Ms. Donnelly.


MS. DONNELLY:  Thank you.


MS. HELT:  To follow up, then you said that if you look at a customer across the street they may be paying more.  However, do you look at your -- ORPC's financial performance itself and compare yourself to, perhaps the bill could be lower for your ratepayer if you did have a lower cost of debt?


MS. DONNELLY:  Well, I think we understand that.  I mean, the sheer math of changing those numbers will decrease our rates.


MS. HELT:  All right.  Thank you.


And I believe, Mr. Scott, your evidence has been that Ottawa River has not attempted to secure any alternate debt financing arrangements since the agreement was signed; is that correct?


MR. SCOTT:  I believe that to be correct, yes.


MS. HELT:  Has ORPC ever inquired into what debt rate it might be able to secure from another third-party institution?


MR. SCOTT:  I don't know the -- I'm not sure I can answer that accurately.  I'm not sure.


MS. HELT:  So you're not sure if anyone from ORPC has ever gone to a bank to see what the rate might be for third-party debt?


MR. SCOTT:  I don't know.


MS. DONNELLY:  No, we have not.


MS. HELT:  And again -- and I'm sorry if this is repetitive, but why not?


MS. DONNELLY:  Just because I believed it to be a term.  I believe that, especially with our -- we've been through two -- what I would call two cost-of-service applications.  Back in 2006 was a big application, again in 2010, and I provided the shareholders' agreement, thought that we were doing -- as I say, this is my first employment in a regulatory environment -- believed that to be true.


MS. HELT:  Were there ever any discussions with respect to what it might cost should you terminate this agreement in some way, in terms of a penalty to ORPC?


MS. DONNELLY:  No, no discussion.


MS. HELT:  Are your customers aware of the 7.25 percent rate that you are paying?


MS. DONNELLY:  Our customers are certainly aware of the -- at least the Pembroke customers are certainly aware of the amount of funds that are paid to the City of Pembroke.  That's in the newspaper almost annually.


MS. HELT:  All right.  And to follow up with that, have you ever asked the ORPC customers, your customers, whether or not they accept the trade-off of higher electricity prices versus lower taxes?


MS. DONNELLY:  No, we have not.


MS. HELT:  And why is that?


MS. DONNELLY:  I don't know.


MS. HELT:  It's not something you think your customers would be interested in?


MS. DONNELLY:  No.


MS. HELT:  No?  All right.  In terms of the governance of ORPC, all the discussion has been with respect to the one loan agreement and the 20-year term.


Would it not be a better management of risk to seek multiple terms and different rates to manage that risk?


MS. DONNELLY:  Again, I just believed it to be what it was.


MS. HELT:  All right.  Thank you.  I have no further questions.


MS. FRY:  Ms. Duff?

Questions by the Board:


MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  I just want to ask a little bit about the commercial building, the rental payment and that is considered or meant to be considered as part of the 7.25 rate, and I went actually to your financial statements.


MS. DONNELLY:  You would never see it.  It's $12 a year.


MS. DUFF:  Okay.  So primarily, you own your own buildings and land?


MS. DONNELLY:  No, it's owned by the City of Pembroke.  We are housed in there and we pay no -- we pay $12.


MS. DUFF:  For that particular commercial building?


MS. DONNELLY:  Yes.

MS. DUFF:  So it's a small dollar amount.


MS. DONNELLY:  Yes, it's minimal rent we pay.


MS. DUFF:  As a proportion of your buildings, what you use to operate your utility, is it a very small portion?  Is it -- like how many buildings do you have, approximately?


MS. DONNELLY:  Well, we have two buildings that are joined and we occupy both of them.


MS. DUFF:  And this commercial building?


MS. DONNELLY:  That are owned by the municipality, by the City of Pembroke.  Does that make sense?


MS. DUFF:  Your primary office building?


MS. DONNELLY:  Yes, our office building and garage I believe are owned by the City of Pembroke and for that, for them allowing us to be in there and operate out of it, we pay $12.


MS. DUFF:  Sorry I don't have the evidence reference, but I did want to it you were to the 2014 financial statements.  Can we do that please?  Do you have that in soft copy?  I've been provided with them.


MR. VELLONE:  I don't have them at my fingertips.  I think they were filed as part of --


MS. DONNELLY:  I don't have them with me either.


MR. VELLONE:  Jane, do you remember where in the application it is?


MS. DONNELLY:  I think it's Exhibit 1, but I could be wrong.


MR. VELLONE:  I have an electronic version of the application.  We'll try to pull it up, if that helps.


MS. HELT:  We have a hard copy, but only one.


MR. VELLONE:  Maybe direct Jess, based on the screen, where to look in Exhibit 1.


MS. DUFF:  I can talk generally.  I'm sure these are not going to be difficult questions to the penny.


I’m looking at your assets, and you had $27 million, land, building, office equipment --


MS. DONNELLY:  That's correct.


MS. DUFF:  Those are not the buildings you're talking about?


MS. DONNELLY:  Those are not the buildings we're talking about.  The buildings that you're seeing in there are part of substations, et cetera.


MS. DUFF:  Okay.


MS. DONNELLY:  So the office building we're speaking about is not an asset that we have on our books.


MS. DUFF:  Thank you.  One other question.  It was regarding the Ottawa River Energy Solutions, and I knew I had heard that phrase before.

In note 3 to your financial statements, you talk about the fact that the corporation provides financing to Ottawa River Energy Solutions, and you provide operating capital to Ottawa River Energy Solutions.


MS. DONNELLY:  Actually, I don't believe that's -- if you look at the 2014 statement, Ottawa River Ottawa River Power Corporation actually owed, I think, Energy Solutions at the year end.  We do not provide financing any more.  We did previously, years ago.


MS. DUFF:  That's actually my question, because it was listed under current liabilities, and then yet it appears that you were providing financing to them under note 3 and I just couldn't reconcile.


I was wondering if perhaps there was a bit more information you could provide.


MS. DONNELLY:  We do operate from -- at that point, Energy Solutions was very, very small in the opening days, and there was financing provided for them at one point and we operated out of -- I don't want to say one financial package and there were inter-company accounts kept for each transaction either way.

Now money is transferred back and forth depending on what we're doing for them, whether we're collecting revenue for them and vice versa.


MS. DUFF:  Because you don't have it -- good.  I'm on page 14 of the financial statements.  It is note 3, and there is an interest rate. So I guess when there is --


MS. DONNELLY:  Yes.


MS. DUFF:  It's 5.75 percent?


MS. DONNELLY:  Yes.


MS. DUFF:  Okay, that answers my questions.  Thank you.


MS. FRY:  I want to go back to this building where your rent is $12 a year.


MS. DONNELLY:  That's correct.


MS. FRY:  Was it always $12 a year, or did it change on the merger?


MS. DONNELLY:  No, prior -- I'm sorry, I don't know what it was prior to the merger.  I only know what it was after.


MS. FRY:  So what would the market rate have been at the time of the merger then?


MR. SCOTT:  I'm the real estate agent, and the market rate of the -- probably a building like that, 14 to 16 dollars a square foot.


MS. FRY:  You're going to have to translate that into volume.


MR. SCOTT:  Annual amount for the building?


MS. FRY:  Yes.


MR. SCOTT:  40 to 60,000 a year.


MS. FRY:  40 to 60,000 a year.  Okay.  And since you were in place at the time of the merger, are you saying -- I mean, was the market rate looked at at that time?


MR. SCOTT:  I don't believe it was.


MS. FRY:  You don't believe it was.


MR. SCOTT:  No.


MS. FRY:  And at that time, I'm not sure what the business situation was in Pembroke at that point in time.  Was it booming?  Were there people -- say the utility had decided not to use that building, would there have been others in line to take it?


MR. SCOTT:  Yes, there would have been other opportunity.  A lot of the commercial-industrial industry in Pembroke and area is very dependent.  It's wood dependent and a number of companies, Commonwealth Plywood and a few others, those companies ceased to exist.  So there was lots of opportunity for commercial.


MS. FRY:  I guess I'm not understanding what you're telling me.  If those companies were ceasing to exist, they wouldn't need an office building, right?  But I guess I'm not following your point.

I guess what I'm asking is -- you're saying that the market rate wasn't looked at at that time, but you believe it would have been about 40 to 60,000 dollars a year.  What I'm asking is, at 40 to 60,000 dollars a year, given whatever the commercial circumstances of Pembroke were at that time, would there have been any takers?


MR. SCOTT:  Other buildings. do you mean, available?


MS. FRY:  Other takers for that --


MS. DONNELLY:  Would someone else want to rent our building?


MS. FRY:  Exactly.


MR. SCOTT:  Yes, I believe that would be a fair statement.  I think there would be other parties interested.


MS. FRY:  Redirect?


MR. JANIGAN:  Madam Chair, I wonder if I could just ask one question about --


MS. FRY:  One counsel at a time.


MR. JANIGAN:  Sorry, I didn’t hear Jay.  I should defer to my elders, but --


MS. FRY:  Do we want to get into numbers here?


MR. JANIGAN:  I just have a follow-up on your questions with respect to the lease agreement, just a few questions in follow-up to that.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  Can we just take that under advisement and find out what Mr. Shepherd wanted to say?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Same thing.  I deliberately avoided that, because it wasn't a key area of the original evidence, but if it's a main area, I have read the lease, and I do have some questions on it.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  Well, I mean, you're characterizing it as a main area.  No one said it was or it wasn't.  Okay.  I'm going to permit some additional questions.  Mr. Janigan got in first, so he is going to go first.  I hope they won't take a long time.

MR. JANIGAN:  No.

MS. FRY:  Ms. Helt, if you have any additional questions after that, obviously you'll have an opportunity, and redirect will cover it off.
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Janigan:


MR. JANIGAN:  I just have a couple of questions.  In your compendium on page 36 you have a lease agreement.  Are the terms of that lease agreement still in effect?

MR. SCOTT:  Yes, I believe they are.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And as I understand it from reviewing the lease agreement, all of the operating costs, all of the leasehold improvements, all of the maintenance, all of the taxes, all of the utilities, are all payable by the utility.


MR. SCOTT:  That's correct.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. FRY:  Mr. Shepherd?
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, I have -- this is a net net net lease, right?

MR. SCOTT:  Yes.  I think it is, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It actually says so, right?


MR. SCOTT:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And can you tell us what a net net net lease is?  Or would you like me to try and --


MR. SCOTT:  Yeah, I don't deal a lot with net net leases, so you're --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no --


MR. SCOTT:  -- I'm strictly --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, this is actually triple net --


MR. SCOTT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- right, which means that the landlord pays nothing for anything.  Everything is always paid by the tenant, including landlord expenses, they're all paid by the tenant, right?


MR. SCOTT:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's true, isn't it, that at that time in 2000 you had a bunch of issues with other companies closing down?  There was lots of office space available, right?


MR. SCOTT:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's true that there was a risk to the city that they wouldn't get any taxes on this property, right, because there would be nobody in it?

MR. SCOTT:  That's right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so what happened is that the utility is paying all the costs associated with the building, which the -- any appreciation in value still goes to the city, right?

MR. SCOTT:  Right.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's also paying taxes on the building, right?


MR. SCOTT:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And there was a risk that the city would get none of that if it didn't agree to a favourable lease; isn't that right?

MR. SCOTT:  I think that's fair, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Those are all my questions.  Thank you.

MS. FRY:  Ms. Helt?

MS. HELT:  No questions.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. FRY:  Redirect?

RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. VELLONE:

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I only have one question for the purposes of redirect, and the question is for Mr. Scott.

Mr. Scott, could you please turn up the document that is marked K3, which is the examination material of the School Energy Coalition.  And I would ask you to turn to page 38 of that material, and specifically, I'll get zoomed in to paragraph (e) at the bottom of that page.


In referencing this paragraph my friend Mr. Shepherd put a question to you, and I'll paraphrase what he said, but he said, is it true that the note has a variable rate equal to the maximum -- equal to the amount set by the OEB?  Do you remember that question?

MR. SCOTT:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  I believe in response you did say "yes".

MR. SCOTT:  I think maybe I did, yes.

MR. VELLONE:  I'm going to ask you to read paragraph (e) on to the record, please.  Read it out loud, please.

MR. SCOTT:  Page 38?

MR. VELLONE:  Correct.

MR. SCOTT:  Section (e).

MR. VELLONE:  Yes.

MR. SCOTT:  "The parties further agree that the
corporation shall pay interest on the promissory notes to Pembroke, Beachburg, Mississippi, and Killaloe on their respective notes in an amount not to exceed the maximum interest rate allowed by the Ontario Energy Board based upon their handbook or any other regulation, schedule, document to be prepared or enacted by them or any successors to the said Ontario Energy Board or any other entity with regulatory authority for utilities in the Province of Ontario."  (sic)


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.


Does it say the words "variable rate" anywhere in that paragraph?

MR. SCOTT:  No, sir.

MR. VELLONE:  Does it say that it is a maximum interest rate in that paragraph?

MR. SCOTT:  "Maximum interest rate not -- allowed by the Ontario Energy Board".  (sic)


MR. VELLONE:  So is that a yes answer?


MR. SCOTT:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  That's all my questions, thank you.

MS. FRY:  So we will take a break until two o'clock, and then we will go into argument.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:37 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 2:00 p.m.
Procedural Matters:


MS. FRY:  Before we get started in argument, it looks like we won't have enough time for reply argument today.  So at this point, we should set a time frame for that.  Mr. Vellone?

MR. VELLONE:  We're conscious that this is a fairly narrow issue that's going to be argued today.  We’re okay with an expedited time frame.  You know, something like a week would be fine for us, if that's okay, if that’s acceptable to everyone.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, the intervenors have to make their arguments without seeing the transcript right away, and my friend is going to do his argument after seeing the transcripts a week later?

Why is that okay?  Why doesn't he do his argument today, like we have to reply to his argument-in-chief today?

MS. FRY:  Mr. Vellone?

MR. VELLONE:  My disadvantage is not only I'm missing the transcript, but I don't know the arguments that are going to come are going to be.  I'm not sure what case law folks are going to be referring to.  I'm not sure if they're analogous or not.  I haven't checked the facts of the previous cases, if they are referring to them.

There is a bit of homework I need to do to present a cogent and clear reply.  That does, I think, merit a little bit of extra time.

MS. FRY:  I mean, you know, I will hear all the counsel on this.  But, you know, there is a question of timing in the hearing.  Intervenors and Board counsel have had an extra long lunch break to assist with time to prepare argument.

The normal thing is that counsel get time to prepare argument, that would apply to reply argument just like any other argument.

Mr. Janigan, do you have submissions to make on this?  I would like to hear from Mr. Janigan and Ms. Helt.

MR. JANIGAN:  I'm thinking about this.  I mean, my preference, even in this particular proceeding, would have been to have some written argument.  But is there no way that we may be able to accommodate both the idea that intervenors are proceeding today with -- basically without the opportunity to review the full transcript and the advantage seems to accrue to the reply.

I think --


MS. FRY:  Do you have suggestions on that?

MR. JANIGAN:  That's a good question.

MS. FRY:  That's my job, to ask the good questions.  Well, let me hear from Ms. Helt it may be appropriate to call a small recess and counsel can huddle and discuss this.

Ms. Helt, do you want to say anything else at this point?

MS. HELT:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.  From Board Staff's perspective, we were aware you would be seeking our oral argument today, and prepared on that basis, as I think my friends have as well.  So we are prepared to go.

No, we haven't had the benefit of the transcript, but the questions were simply -- it's not the usual case of a five-day hearing, for example.  This is one narrow issue.

So the fact that there is additional time provided for reply and that oral submissions is not required I don't think in any way, from Staff's perspective, prejudices our position or would prejudice the position of the intervenors, and I don't have an issue with it.

MS. FRY:  What I'm going to do is I'm going to call a 20-minute recess, and I would like to have counsel discuss among themselves if they can reach a friendly accommodation or if I need to make a ruling on this.

So we will recess until 2:25 p.m.

MS. HELT:  Just to be clear, that's 2:25 on the regular clock?

MS. FRY:  On my watch, yes.
--- Recess taken at 2:03 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:14 p.m.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  So perhaps I can ask Ms. Helt if the collectivity of counsel has reached any agreement?

MS. HELT:  Yes, we have, Madam Chair.  We have looked at the time that we have and spoke with Mr. Vellone with respect to how long he anticipates his oral argument-in-chief to be, which has been slightly revised from what's in the hearing plan for an additional ten or 15 minutes, so he thinks it will probably be 40, 45 minutes, my understanding.

In light of that, and with the timeline that we are faced with today with respect to finishing or having a hard stop at quarter to four, we thought it would be appropriate that the intervenors and Board Staff be allowed to file their written submissions by Wednesday, April the 6th, and then to have a written reply by the applicant to be filed Wednesday, April the 13th.

MS. FRY:  Okay.

MS. HELT:  I can also just advise, Madam Chair, that should time allow, Board Staff would be prepared to do its submissions today orally, if that is agreeable to the panel.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  So perhaps we can -- it certainly would be agreeable to the Panel.  It's a question of what Board Staff counsel prefers, since it looks like the intervenors would be filing theirs in writing.  It would be your option.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.

MS. FRY:  So perhaps we could check in on that after argument in-chief is finished to see what your choice is.

MS. HELT:  All right.

MS. FRY:  So other counsel, do you agree with what Ms. Helt is saying?  Okay.  So let's go ahead with argument in-chief.
Closing Argument by Mr. Vellone:

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.

Madam Chair, Panel, the issues the parties are in disagreement with today and are unable to settle is a fairly narrow one, and maybe just to start I would ask to pull up the settlement proposal filed March 15th, 2016, and turning to page 9 of that settlement proposal.  A concise description of the remaining issue to be heard is laid out, and that is that the parties have been unable to agree that the applicant's proposed long-term debt cost for affiliate debt; specifically, the parties have been unable to agree on the costs of the affiliate debt for rate-setting purposes; the applicant intends to produce a witness at the hearing to address certain facts that are in dispute.

The settlement proposal then goes on to identify specific pinpoint references both to the evidence and to the interrogatory responses that are relevant to this matter in dispute.

Before I go into the facts I would like to start first with Board policy.  Earlier this year on January 12th, 2016 the OEB issued an OEB Staff report which contained a review of the Board's cost-of-capital policies.  In page 1 of its cover letter, the OEB concluded that it would make no changes to its cost-of-capital policies at this time.

And if you move forward to page 2 of that same letter, under the heading "Next steps", the OEB expressly recognizes the significance of stable, predictable, and well-understood rate-setting policies.  This is a recurring theme that I believe goes to the heart of this matter, and I will return to it again later.

So what is the Board's policy on cost of capital?  That is set out in the Board's 2009 cost-of-capital report, EB-2009-0084.  And turning to the bottom of page 53 of that report, the Board states that:

"The deemed long-term debt rate will act as a proxy or a ceiling for what would be considered market-based rates by the Board in certain circumstances."

The Board then goes on to articulate four such circumstances.  First, for affiliate debt with a fixed rate, the deemed long-term debt rate at the time of issuance will be used as the ceiling on the rate allowed for that debt.

It is the applicant's submissions today that this is the correct policy to apply to the facts in this case.

Now, I want to draw the Board Panel's attention to the emphasis that is set out clearly in this report with clear underlining, and those are on the words "at the time of issuance".  It is directly relevant to the matter in dispute today.

7.25 percent was the OEB's deemed debt rate applicable to Ottawa River Power Corporation at the time the four promissory notes were issued.  Earlier in the proceeding today, the Board Panel was drawn -- your attention was drawn to the 2000 rate handbook and specifically to Table 3-1 of that rate handbook, which clearly indicates that for utilities with a rate base of under $100 million the deemed debt rate at that time was 7.25 percent.

Going back now to the 2009 report and the four circumstances articulated by the Board, the second relates to third-party debt that has a variable rate.  And in this circumstance it doesn't matter if it's affiliate debt or any other third party.

In those circumstances the current deemed long-term debt rate is the ceiling on the rate allowed for that debt.  In my submissions, the debt between Ottawa River Power Corporation and its four municipalities is not a variable rate debt and, as a result, this provision is not applicable, and I'll get into that more later.

Third, the deemed long-term debt rate will be used for an electricity distribution utility that has no actual debt.  In this case Ottawa River Power Corporation does have debt.  There were four notes issued to four municipalities in consideration for the transfer of assets, which is clearly indicated in the transfer bylaws, the shareholders' agreement, the subsequent amending agreement.  We're missing a piece of paper, but that in and of itself doesn't negate the fact that the debt does exist and was consideration for real and substantive transfer of assets that occurred back in 2000.

Fourth, for debt that is callable on demand within the test period the deemed long-term debt rate will be a ceiling on the rate allowed for that debt.  In this circumstance, in this case, the notes simply are not callable on demand and, as a result, this portion of the Board's policy again is not applicable.

As is typical with most Board policies, the Panel is given -- this Panel is given charge to determine the appropriate debt treatment, including the rate to be allowed, based on the record before it and in consideration of these policies as described in the report.

Also as typical in rate applications, the burden of proof resides with the applicant, which is charged with establishing the need for and prudence of the actual and forecasted debt, including the cost of such debt.

In my submissions, the applicant has discharged its burden of proof and demonstrated both the need for and the prudence of its forecasted long-term debt cost of 7.25 percent.

To start I would first like to refer the Board to the Board's decision and order in Ottawa River Power Corporation's last cost-of-service application.  That was Board file number EB-2009-0165.  And the decision was dated December 15th, 2010.

And if we go to page 20 of that decision, which is showing on the screen before you, you will see that Board panel's decision on the cost of capital at that time.  And my point here is a simple one.  These promissory notes are not new.  They've been in place now for more than 15 years.  This means that the Board has heard evidence on these notes in the past and, based on that evidence, it has shown in this decision, has previously approved the use of a 7.25 percent interest rate.

In this decision the Board expressly noted evidence of, one, the notes having a fixed term of 20 years and are not callable; and two, the 7.25 percent interest rate is identical to the Board's deemed rate at the time the notes were issued.

When I went back and looked at the evidentiary record in EB-2009-0165, I wanted to see exactly upon what evidence the Board panel made that decision.  And what I can confirm for you today is that the Board panel made its decision based on the same evidence that is currently included in Exhibit 5 of the rate application that you have before you today.  The exact same evidence.

Now, I readily concede that this Board Panel is not bound by the decision made by a previous panel, but I do think that this and other prior decisions are informative for your decision-making.

So what does the evidence in this application say?  Let's start first with Exhibit 5, and turning up page 12 of Exhibit 5 and maybe scrolling forward one more page, we have appendix 20B, which my friend Mr. Shepherd brought our attention to earlier today, which shows the cost of capital calculation based on the four promissory notes held by each of the four municipalities: Pembroke, Mississippi Mills, Beachburg, and Killaloe.

The notes are all clearly indicated as affiliate debt; the notes are all identified as having a fixed interest rate of 7.25 percent, and a term of 20 years from market opening.

This evidence, if you keep scrolling down through appendix 20B, also clearly shows that an interest rate of 7.25 percent was paid consistently since 2010.  And if you go back and look at the same evidence that was filed in EB- 2009-0165, this also shows that the interest rate of 7.25 percent was consistently paid on each of these notes since 2006.

In fact, if we move forward to page 15 of Exhibit 5, Ottawa River Power Corporation confirms for the Panel that it has paid interest on the promissory notes at a fixed rate of 7.25 percent since market opening in May 2002.  Ottawa River Power Corporation also notes that the notes have a fixed term of 20 years.  The notes are not callable on demand and the interest rates on the notes are not variable.

Flipping forward to page 16 of the evidence -- Sorry, maybe the next page after that -- the applicant also provided a copy of the October 1, 2000, shareholders' agreement for Ottawa River Power Corporation, which at section 13 details many terms and conditions governing these promissory notes.  This is the same information the applicant provided and which the Board accepted in the 2010 rate application.

In this rate application, the applicant has gone a step further to provide the best evidence possible of the costs and terms of its affiliate debt.

Simply put, during the course of this proceeding it came to our attention that the original promissory notes simply could not be found.  In lieu of copies of those promissory notes, we have provided the Board Panel with the best information that we do have available.  That includes, one, the written affidavit and oral evidence of Mr. Scott, who was the mayor of the City of Pembroke at the time the notes were issued and as signatory to the actual transfer bylaw, confirming both the terms and conditions of the note;


Two, copies of all of the ancillary documents relevant to the terms and conditions of the note, including the transfer bylaws, the shareholders' agreement, and the term extending letter agreement, as well as various other documents;


And three, we’ve provided copies of affidavits of loss as well as copies of replacement notes, which all the parties to those notes agreed were consistent with the terms of the original promissory notes.

With all of these inputs, here is a summary of the facts as they stand:  First, the promissory notes reflect a legal and contractual obligation between Ottawa River Power Corporation and each of its four municipal owners.  When it became apparent that Ottawa River Power Corporation could not find its original notes, I had to basically go to one of my colleagues in our banking group to say what do you do at law in these circumstances.  And his indication to me was you draft a replacement note on the same terms as you had for the original promissory notes.

If you look at Exhibit K1, which is the affidavit of Mr. Scott, you will see at page 185 a copy of the replacement note which BLG was asked to draft.


I think it's helpful for you to understand a little bit about the process as to how we got to the terms of that replacement note.

Since the promissory notes are a legal contractual obligation between Ottawa River Power Corporation and each of its municipalities, at contract law, a missing piece of paper does not negate the existence of a legally binding contract.  Rather what we look for is offer, acceptance and consideration, and there is no doubt in my mind that this occurred in this instance.  There are transfer bylaws that clearly indicate that assets, liabilities, employees, were transferred into the utility of the corporation, and in return for that transfer, shares were issued and promissory notes were delivered.

Once you know that a note did exist, the next thing you have to do is figure out what the terms and conditions of those promissory notes are.  In contract law, it is an exercise in assessing the intentions of the parties to those notes which is of paramount importance.  This is the same test a judge would be asked to use should a dispute around payments under these notes arrive before the courts in Ontario.  They would ask what were the intentions of the parties at the time these notes were issued.

In this respect, you have complete and full visibility into the exercise that BLG undertook to draft the replacement notes.  In assessing the intentions of the parties, we considered, one, what are Ottawa River Power Corporation's as well as the municipal shareholders' intentions as they state them today.  How do they understand these notes to exist?

Second, we also made reference to all the historical evidence we had available; the transfer bylaws, the shareholders' agreements, the letter amending agreement which amends the term, as well as ancillary documents.

Finally, we also looked at the track record, the evidence over how the parties actually behaved over the past 15 years and, taken together, used that to best inform the intentions of the parties at the time the notes were issued.

What were the terms and conditions?  Well, a lot of attention during cross-examination today has been focused on the wording in the transfer bylaws, which say term and interest to be renegotiated annually.  We had to figure out how to interpret that.  I'll put it frankly to you.  At law, an agreement to agree is simply not enforceable.  There is a lot of good reasons for that, but put simply, parties in the future may simply never agree.

The municipalities could ask for a higher interest rate, and Ottawa River Power Corporation would say no.  Similarly, Ottawa River Power Corporation could ask for a lower rate of interest, and the municipalities would simply say no.

So at law, we know that an agreement to agree is not enforceable.  So where else do we look?

Before we go there, perhaps what I might do is draw your attention to Exhibit K1, which is the affidavit of Mr. Scott, and actually right back at the beginning of the affidavit in paragraph 23.  This is Mr. Scott speaking on behalf of the municipality of Pembroke as well as having discussed with the municipalities of the other three municipalities, and what he says is:

"I can confirm that we do not agree to voluntarily reduce the fixed interest rate below 7.25 percent."


So you have an old note that says the parties will agree to agree, and you have one of the parties saying we don't agree to go lower.  So how do you interpret the intentions of the parties as it relates to the term of the note and the interest rate payable, given that an agreement to agree is not enforceable.

For the term of the note, that one was solved for us by an amendment dated November 2000.  If you turn up Exhibit K1, page 166, and if you zoom into the second to last paragraph there, this is an amending agreement to the original terms of the note.  It's dated November 2000, and it basically takes the notes which originally expired January 1st, 2002 and amends the terms such that they are due 20 years after market opening, which is currently slated for November 7th, 2000.

We now know that market opening did not happen until May 1st, 2002.  As a result, the terms of the note are -- the term of the note is until May 1st, 2022.  So that one was relatively easy to resolve because of the amending agreement that came later.  This is consistent with the parties' understanding of the notes and is reflected directly in the drafting of the replacement note that you have before you, which indicates a term which expires May 1st, 2022.

There was some indication during cross-examination that the utility has the right at any time to repay this note early.  They could try, and the municipalities could sue in response for breach of the fixed-term note that doesn't expire until May 2022, and what would they sue for?  They would sue for damages; that is, the lost interest payments that are otherwise payable under those notes for the balance of the term of those notes.  They would then end up in a fight before the courts, and if Ottawa River Power Corporation loses they not only have to pay the municipality all of the interest that they would have had to pay under the terms of these notes, but they would have also had to pay for whatever debt that they had to go out and secure and refinance over the same period of time.

So could they pay you back early?  Sure.  Is it advisable?  No, it's breach of contract.  You would end up in a lawsuit.

Moving from the term of the note to the interest rate, I'll say this one was more difficult.  We didn't have an easy amendment that we could point to to determine what the intent of the parties were at the time the notes were issued.

What you have heard today is the best evidence that we do have available.  You heard evidence from both the municipality and from the LDC that the notes -- their understanding is that the notes had a fixed rate of 7.25 percent.

You also have before you transfer bylaws which expressly reference an interest rate of 7.25 percent.  That can be found at Exhibit K1 at page 31.  So no interest payable until market opening, and thereafter at an effective rate currently 7.25 percent per annum.  That's not a number we picked out of the air.  It is expressly referenced.

There are many other references in the evidence before the Panel of 7.25 percent.  If you turn to page 98 of the same affidavit, and you zoom in on that table there, you can see that in this bylaw passed by the Township of Whitewater there is reference in the recitals there at the bottom to the promissory note, the 20-year term, due on -- 20 years from market opening in the correct amount at an interest rate payable of 7.25 percent.

If you turn to page 168 of the same affidavit, we can see a similar bylaw passed by the City of Peterborough, again referencing the promissory note, with a term of 20 years from market opening, the principal amount, and an interest payable at 7.25 percent.

Finally, and this is perhaps most informative of the drafting of the replacement note, was what did the parties actually do?  How did they behave with respect to this legal obligation between them?  And the evidence is that the parties have historically consistently paid a fixed rate of interest of 7.25 percent every year since 2002.

In conclusion, and in consideration of all of the evidence that we had before us, it was our best judgment that the intentions of the parties at the time the notes were issued was a fixed-rate note at 7.25 percent.


This is what is reflected in the replacement note that the Panel has before you, and that's how we arrived at that.

I would contrast this briefly with the alternative explanation that appears to be posited by my friends, and I can say there is no evidence on the record that this is a variable rate note.  It's not consistent with what the parties' stated intentions are.  The phrase "term and interest to be renegotiated annually" is an agreement to agree.  It is not what we would use in legal parlance for a variable rate note.

And we know that the municipalities do not agree to an interest rate of less than 7.25 percent, so I could find no evidence based on the body of materials that my client put before me to conclude that this was a variable rate note.  It's simply a fixed-rate note, based on the wealth of evidence that we have before us.

Finally, and this point is important to call out, that fixed rate is subject to a maximum, and that maximum is stipulated in the shareholders' agreement, which can be found in Exhibit K1 at page 147, where at paragraph (e) -- and the witness already read through this today, so I'm not going to go through it in detail.  But it's very clear to me that there is an upper limit on what that rate is on the note, and that upper limit is based on the OEB's own policies.

There was some implication during cross-examination that this is not really a fair negotiation, or the municipalities have some type of power or control here that is undue or would be not in the ratepayers' best interest.

This is the clearest indication to me that actually the opposite is true.  What the municipalities have done in their shareholder agreement is basically defer judgment to you, the Ontario Energy Board, to decide what is best and what's in the public interest.  They've set a cap, a maximum rate, which says it's what you guys say it is, based on your handbook, which was what was available at the time, but also any regulation, schedule, or other document that you prepare.

As a result, when I'm interpreting this I go to your 2009 cost-of-capital report, look at what the report says, and it says that interest rate that was the deemed rate when the notes were issued.  If you say something else, this provision operates.  It's a clear sign of deference to the Panel and to the Board, and I think is reflective of the fact that at market opening the utilities didn't know how rates were going to be set.  They didn't know what interest rate to choose.  And so they included this provision reflective of the fact that they didn't know.

So in closing off my remarks, the intentions of Ottawa River Power Corporation and each of the municipalities are clear.  There are four promissory notes that are in place, and ORPC and each of the municipal shareholders agree on the terms of those notes.  Those are detailed in the replacement notes, what the Panel has before it.  Those terms are supported by past practice.  Ottawa River Power has paid 7.25 interest rate every year since market opening.  The parties have never changed this rate.  It has never gone up.  It has never gone down.

Those terms are also supported by the transfer bylaws, the shareholders' agreement, and the term amending agreement, which I drew your attention to today, as well as other ancillary documents.  The notes are for a fixed term, expiring in 2022, 20 years from market opening, and the notes are not callable on demand.  There is no evidence anywhere in any of these notes that they may be called by the municipality on demand or that they be repaid by Ottawa River Power Corporation at will.  They're simply a fixed-term obligation to pay.

Based on these facts, the applicant submits that the Board should approve a forecasted debt rate for affiliate debt of 7.25 percent.  It reflects the actual rate of interest payable on the notes.  It reflects a direct application of the Board's own policy as stipulated in the 2009 cost-of-capital report to the facts of the notes.  It is reflective of a stable, predictable, and well understood application of your own rate-setting policy.  This was the same deemed debt rate which was approved as applicable to Ottawa River Power Corporation in 2010, the last time they rebased.

And finally, it is consistent with their past practices between – sorry.  And it’s consistent with their past practices, which I've already covered.

Those are my submissions.  Thank you very much.

MS. FRY:  Just a minute.  I have a couple of questions for you.

So the first one is you referred to the Board's policy and the cost-of-capital report, and one of the elements in the page you referred us to was it contemplated that Board panels would look at the prudence of the cost of debt.

I'm not sure if you addressed that in your argument. Would you care to either point us to what you did say about it if I missed it, or talk a bit about it?

MR. VELLONE:  Certainly.  So when you speak to prudence, one of the things management needs to do as prudent management of the utility is they have to look at what the contractual obligations they have to meet are.  They are not at liberty to change those.


So the exercise we engaged in with respect to the replacement note was a simple corporate law exercise that we do every time we have to replace:  We discern what the intentions of the parties were, we issue a replacement note on the same terms and conditions.  We did this in the  way --


MS. DUFF:  I'm sorry, I can barely hear you.

MR. VELLONE:  Sorry.  Management is bound by the terms of the contracts that they have.  They have an obligation to pay to the municipalities 7.25 percent interest, subject to the maximum that I referred you to in the shareholders' agreement.

Management doesn't have discretion to change that.  Actually, other than the OEB, it's a fixed rate note until the end of the term.  So management, acting prudently, does what it is they're contractual obliged to do, because not doing so can bring a legal claim for damages; it's an simple as that.  They have an obligation to make payment, and they do that.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  And my second question is -- you referred to the evidence in a previous Board case.

MR. VELLONE:  Yes.

MS. FRY:  And just to be clear, I take it the evidence in that case did not include any discussion of whether the promissory notes could be found?

MR. VELLONE:  That's correct.  So to be clear -- and I maybe didn't nail this when I mentioned it, but what's in Exhibit 5 here is some assertions about what the notes are --


MS. FRY:  Certainly.

MR. VELLONE:  -- and a shareholders' agreement.  That is all that was before the panel the last time.  They didn't have the benefit of, well, the notes are lost; they didn't have the benefit of the affidavit that you do.

MS. FRY:  Thank you very much.  Ms. Helt, have you decided if you want to go orally or in writing?

MS. HELT:  Yes, thank you Madam Chair.  I'm prepared to go orally today, if the Panel is willing to hear me.

MS. FRY:  Would you like a short break to prepare?

MS. HELT:  No, that wouldn't be necessary.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  Go for it.
Closing Argument by Ms. Helt:


MS. HELT:  Thank you very much.  I do have two documents, Madam Chair, that I would just like to provide to you.  One is a letter from the Board.  These are both -- or one is a public document, a letter dated October 15, 2015, which is a letter from the Board with respect to cost of capital and the current deemed rate.  I think that would be helpful to have.

MS. FRY:  Yes, thank you.

MS. HELT:  That will be marked as Exhibit K7.
EXHIBIT NO. K7:  LETTER DATED OCTOBER 15, 2015 FROM THE BOARD WITH RESPECT TO COST OF CAPITAL AND THE CURRENT DEEMED RATE

MS. HELT:  We also have prepared a book of authorities.  There are only two cases in the book of authorities.  We haven't filed it yet, but we have sufficient hard copies to draw your attention to throughout the submissions.

And if we could mark that as Exhibit K8?  I’ll just wait for Ms. Birgit to pass it around.  I did provide it to my friends earlier.  All right.
EXHIBIT NO. K8:  CLOSING ARGUMENT COMPENDIUM OF BOARD STAFF


MS. HELT:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, Ms. Duff, Board Staff will be focusing its submission in four areas today.  The first will be to look at the report of the Board on cost of capital that was referred to by my friend Mr. Vellone, and which is also found -- the relevant pages are found in the Board Staff compendium from pages 4 to 9, and I'll be referring to that.

The second area we will be focusing our submissions on is whether or not the rate of 7.25 percent is a fixed rate or a variable rate.

The third area of the submission will be with respect to regardless if it's a fixed or a variable rate, is it a reasonable rate given the RFE and the outcomes based approach that the Board considers.

And the last submission, which will be a short submission, is whether or not in fact the new notes that have been executed are in fact replacement notes, or are they to be considered as a new note and new affiliate debt, given the lack of existence of the -- in Staff's view, the lack of existence of the original note.

So if we could start with the report of the Board on the cost of capital and, as I indicated, it is found in Board Staff's compendium starting at page 5, the report which is EB-2009-0084, and it was issued on December 11, 2009, sets out what the Board policy is with respect to long-term debt.

The relevant section of the report that was referred to by my friend, and which I would also like to draw your attention to, is found on page 8 of the compendium or page 53 of the report.

And if we look at the bottom of the page -- and I agree with my friend where he says that the second-to-last paragraph which talks about -- the paragraph starting with third-party debt, the bolded statement that the deemed long-term debt rate will act as a proxy or ceiling for what would be considered to be a market-based rate by the Board in certain circumstances.

For affiliate debt -- and this is an affiliate defined under the Ontario Business Corporations Act -- the deemed long-term debt rate at the time of issuance will be used as a ceiling on the rate allowed for that debt, and Board Staff agrees with that position.  But Board Staff also relies on the second bullet there that talks about a variable rate, and for debt that has a variable rate, the deemed long-term debt rate will be a ceiling on the rate allowed for that debt.  This applies whether the debt holder is an affiliate or a third party.

And if we go over the page and if we look at the third bullet -- and this is the paragraph I believe you are referring to, Ms. Fry -- the obligation is for a Board panel to determine the debt treatment.  It will look at the rate allowed based on the record before it, and considering the Board's policy, these guidelines, and practice.  The onus will be on the utility to establish the need for and prudence of its actual and forecasted debt including the cost of such debt.  So it’s not only the amount of debt, but the cost of that debt.

So it is important for the Board Panel, when considering what is the appropriate debt rate, to consider this policy.  And Board Staff submits that in considering the application of this policy, it is necessary to first look at whether or not that rate is a fixed rate or a variable rate.


So I will turn now to the second aspect of our submission with respect to whether or not the rate is fixed or variable.  Board Staff's submission is that the rate on the note is variable.  My friend in his argument-in-chief has said that we have to look at the intention of the parties.  And one of the statements he relied on or put forward as support for the intention that it be a fixed rate is that the parties have been paying this for the last 15 years.


Well, in Staff's submission, the fact that parties have paid a particular rate for the past 15 years does not in itself make it a fixed rate.  It just shows that it has not been renegotiated.


In fact, in Board Staff's submission, I think the evidence is clear that the intention of the parties was to renegotiate the note or have the ability to renegotiate the note.  And again, failure to renegotiate does not in itself lend credence to an argument that the rate is actually a fixed rate.


So if we do look at the evidence that has been referred to this morning and this afternoon, what we have is a shareholders' agreement.  And we looked at that shareholders' agreement earlier today.  And paragraphs 13(e) and (f) of that shareholders' agreement, which is attached to Mr. Scott's affidavit, specifically set out -- and I'm just going to read from paragraph 13(f):

"The parties hereto agree that they may adjust the interest rate on the said promissory notes at the times and in the manner as set out by the regulation and in an amount not to exceed the maximum interest rate allowed by any schedule, statute, or otherwise as enacted by the Ontario Energy Board or any successor."


So when considering the intention of the parties, it is very clear, in Staff's submission, that the intention was that the interest rate on the said notes may be changed at times.


Further evidence to support the parties' intention, in Staff's submission, was that this note be a variable or that the rate be variable, is when we looked at the audited financial statements.  It is clear from those statements, and which Mr. Scott admitted to having reviewed in his cross-examination, that the notes to the financial statements for the years 2006 and 7 indicated that the debt rate will be renegotiated annually.  Again, in Staff's submission, that is indicative of a rate that is to be changed.


Then we have Schedule G of the shareholders' agreement, which is found at page 19 of the set compendium, which talks about the rate being -- the interest to be renegotiated annually.  Interest to be calculated annually, payable quarterly, and to be in the form and content satisfactory to the treasurer.  So again it talks about renegotiating on an annual basis.


Then there is the transfer agreement as well, which has been filed in this proceeding, which also provides for a renegotiation of the rate.  In fact, when questioned during cross-examination, Mr. Scott was unable to point to any document which used the word "fixed" before the 7.25 percent rate.


That's not to say that that means it can't be a fixed rate.  But if we are looking to the intention of the parties, and what was set out in all of the other agreements that have been filed in evidence in this proceeding, it's Staff's submission that the evidence overwhelmingly indicates a variable rate.


And I will just reiterate again that the fact that it has been a rate that has been paid consistently for 15 years does not itself make it a fixed rate.


When asked why ORPC has not sought to renegotiate, the answer was that they thought it was a fixed rate.  Again, that's not significant to -- it's not a significant factor to make it so that it is a fixed rate.  They never asked to have it renegotiated.  It wasn't denied either.


The second -- or the third area of the submission is with respect to the reasonableness of the rate of the 7.25 percent.  And this relates to more of the factors that are considered through the RRFE and the outcomes-based approach that the Board has put forward in many decisions, policy documents, and reports.


And on this basis OEB Staff submits that there has to be a balance of interest of both the utility ratepayers and the shareholders.  Ratepayers are entitled to just and reasonable rates, and that is the overriding principle.  And it's Staff's submission that the municipal shareholders should not be able to obtain a rate from the ratepayers above market return.


In Staff's view, a long-term debt rate of 7.25 percent is above that market return and is not one that favours ratepayers.  The 7.25 percent does not reflect a customer-focused approach, nor does it enhance the financial performance of the utility.


When asked about whether or not ORPC has taken steps to determine if it was paying a lower debt rate, would that improve its operational effectiveness or financial performance, the answer was, no, they have not undertaken that analysis to determine if a lower rate would result in that.


Board Staff takes the position that it is incumbent on the distributor in the management of ORPC to review its debt transactions with its affiliates.  The Board has considered a similar type of issue in a previous case.  In the OEB book of authorities, which again we have not filed electronically but you have a hard copy before you, the first case referenced in the book of authorities is the Ontario Energy Board and Niagara Peninsula Energy, EB-2010-0138.


The cost of long-term debt was an issue before the panel in that particular proceeding before the Board, and there was a discussion with respect to two long-term promissory notes.  And if you turn to -- and the pages are numbered at the top of the page -- page 2 of that decision, it's reflected that there were two long-term promissory notes, one in the amount of 22 million and one in the amount of 3.6 million, entered into with two affiliates of Niagara Peninsula.  Both notes carry a rate of 7.5 percent, which was the Board's deemed long-term debt rate at the time the notes were issued, and both had a maturity date of April 1, 2020.


Niagara Pen submitted that the debt instruments were issued in 2000 and 2001 and that the continuation of the rate of 7.25 percent was approved by the Board in its 2006 cost-of-service application.  Niagara Peninsula further referred to the cost-of-capital report.


The next two paragraphs on page 3 of that decision reflect the position of the intervenors and Niagara Peninsula's reply argument, and I won't read both of those paragraphs for you, as I know you're fully capable of doing so yourself and you probably don't need to listen to me speak at length.


But what I do want to point out for you is the Board findings, which start on the middle of that page.  And if we go to that paragraph, it states:

"The Board finds that the deemed rate of 5.32 percent should be used for the purpose of setting rates throughout this cost-of-service application for the long -- for the two long-term promissory notes entered into with affiliates.  The Board agrees with the submissions of parties that the terms of the notes make them callable on demand."


So Board Staff does recognize that these notes were different, in that they were callable on demand.  But the Board also agrees with SEC that the express terms of it the notes makes them variable.  This is important as the 2009 report of the Board makes it clear that the deemed long-term debt rate will be a ceiling on the rate allowed for such debt.  As such, for any 2011 cost of service application with an effective date of May 1, 2011, the deemed long-term debt rate is 5.3 two percent. 

The Board also observes it is incumbent on the distributor to transactions with affiliates, just as it would with third party lenders, to make sure the rate is reasonable.  A rate of 7.25 percent in 2011 is not reasonable, as demonstrated by Niagara Peninsula's ability to secure debt from third parties at rates from 5.84 percent to 6.44 percent. 

Now, Board Staff recognizes that when ORPC was asked this morning in cross-examination if they had sought to secure other debt from third party lenders such as a bank, they indicated no, they have not.  But that doesn't mean that that is not available to them and that they could not do so. 

Mr. Vellone has argued that should ORPC pay the debt early and basically terminate the contract with its municipal shareholders, there may be some lawsuits that may follow or other consequences.  Well, we have no evidence of what that would or wouldn't be as, we don't have any note before us to indicate what early termination of the note would or would not mean. 

If there is found to be a note, and a valid note that does have a term for 20 years, and it is determined that there is a fixed rate, well, then that may be a consequence.  But that is certainly not the evidence before the Panel today in this proceeding. 

So when we are talking about the reasonableness of this rate, just to summarize, there is no evidence that we have on the record that this rate is a rate that is in the customer's interests.  And when I say customer, I'm referring to the ratepayer versus the taxpayer. 

There has been no evidence given of any positive outcomes for customers from this rate.  As indicated with the Niagara Pen case, other distributors have had this rate reduced if it was a higher rate than the deemed rate at the time. 

Board Staff also asked in its submissions whether or not it might be more prudent for management to have several loan agreements as opposed to one loan agreement over a fixed term of 20 years and one rate, and the answer to that question that it may be.  Board Staff does submit that having only one note for a term of this length would be potentially -- or could be potentially imprudent. 

Board Staff is also concerned with having the shareholder benefit by having a higher interest rate note paid to it at the expense of the ratepayer.  This is, in Staff's view, a prima facie conflict of interest that is occurring.  

So for these reasons, Board Staff submits that the reasonableness of a 7.25 percent rate, when looking at what today's current market rates are, is something that is not acceptable, in Staff's submission.  And as it is, in Staff's view, a variable rate, it should be changed to reflect the current Board-deemed rate of 4.54 percent.

MS. FRY:  Thank you. 

MS. HELT:  Board Staff has one final argument – I’m sorry, Madam Chair.  I know you thought I was finishing there. 

MS. FRY:  I thought you were finished. 

MS. HELT:  It is one alternative argument, that if it is the case that the Panel may find there is no note -- certainly the shareholders' agreement, the transfer agreement, the resolutions all indicate the existence of a note.

But when we asked Mr. Scott this morning himself whether or not it may be the case that there is no note -- and I hope I'm not mischaracterizing -- that there is no note, that it may have fallen through the gaps and no such note was actually ever executed, then it would be Board Staff's submission that these new notes that have been introduced into evidence and that were signed in March of this year are in fact new debt.  And as new debt, the rate of 4.54 percent should apply to the notes. 

There was another case before the Board -- and this is the second case in the Board Staff's book of authority, and I apologize that you have to flip through about eight pages to get to the second case, but it's OEB and Niagara-on-the-Lake Hydro, EB 2008-0237.  And again this was an application, like many others before the Board, under section 78 of the act where Niagara-on-the-Lake was seeking approval to have its rates changed. 

On page 18 of that case, and the page numbers are at the bottom of the page, the Board gets into discussion at the bottom of the page on cost of capital.  Again, like all other cases, the Board refers to the Report on the Board of Cost of Capital. 

At the bottom of the page, about halfway through the bottom paragraph, there is reference to a promissory note in the amount of 6.6 million payable to its shareholder with a proposed rate of 7.25 percent and no fixed term.  It was again an argument about what is the proper rate to apply to this particular note. 

And if we turn the page to page 19 of the decision, if we look at the paragraph that talks about -- it starts, "In its interrogatory responses", this is a case where Niagara-on-the-Lake states that the 7.25 percent rate had originally been set and approved by Board, and had been in place since inception in the year 2000 and never been renegotiated. 

Niagara-on-the-Lake further noted in support of its view that the Board's report states the Board has determined that for embedded debt, the rate approved in prior Board decisions shall be maintained for the life of each active instrument unless a new rate is negotiated, in which case it will be treated as new debt.

Energy Probe, SEC and VECC expressed concerns about NOTL’s proposal to impute a rate of 7.25 percent on this debt, arguing that the promissory note now in place is actually a replacement note for the affiliate debt, and this was so noted in the promissory note dated July 5, 2008. 

So in this case, while it's somewhat different in that what we have is a new note that has been created that is said to be a continuation of the old note and really just a replacement of a missing piece of paper, in Staff's submission it may be that this should be considered as new affiliate debt, as there is no evidence of the original note. 

And it's something that the Board, in Staff's submission, should consider and we believe the findings in the Niagara-on-the-Lake Hydro decision may be helpful for the Board in that respect. 

MS. FRY:  Okay.  So do I have one question for you, Ms. Helt. 

Under your alternative theory about new debt, so I believe I understand your argument about what the replacement promissory note did.  What's your view of the arrangement that existed before that was signed?  Was it an unwritten loan -- I mean, obviously if there were promissory notes, we know.  But say there weren't promissory notes; how would you characterize the arrangement that existed before the -- 

MS. HELT:  I do think that the arrangement that existed is captured in the shareholders' agreement that reflects that there is to be a certain amount of interest paid on a debt for a period of time.  In Staff’s submission, that characterization is more of a variable rate as opposed to a fixed rate. 

However, I understand where you're going with that, with your question:  I believe that if there was no note in existence, does the fact that the shareholders' agreement reference that in some way affect the argument of a replacement note.  I think that's what you're asking here.

MS. FRY:  I'm just asking to understand your theory. 

MS. HELT:  My theory is just this:  that if there was no note that was executed at the time that sets out those particular terms, even though there is reference in the shareholders' agreement to a particular commercial agreement between the parties, what we have now with the replacements notes is a new negotiable instrument, a new debt instrument, that has been executed between the parties.  And in Staff's submission, the appropriate rate to impute to that note would be the Board's current deemed rate of 4.54 percent.

MS. FRY:  Thank you.

MS. DUFF:  Ms. Helt, there was one sentence that you said.  It was on page 99 of the transcript.  I have the benefit of it, you don't, so I'll just repeat it.  You said that the -- you were talking about the benefits to customers and pros and cons to the shareholders, and you said the municipal shareholder should not be able to obtain an above-market rate.  Is "shareholder" the right word?  It's the debtholder, who happens to be the shareholder --


MS. HELT:  Oh, yes.

MS. DUFF:  So I just wondered, could you just explain why you used the word "shareholder", because it really is the debtholder.

MS. HELT:  No.  You're quite right.  It should be the debtholder.  I think I was just -- when I was making my argument I was looking at two different streams, and so that's the only reason.  There is no ulterior reason for that.

MS. FRY:  Thank you, Ms. Helt.

Okay.  So that completes our business for today.  Just to reiterate, so intervenors, you'll be filing your written arguments by Wednesday, April the 6th, and the applicant will file its written reply argument by Wednesday, April the 13th.

Thank you very much, everybody.

MS. HELT:  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:16 p.m.
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